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June 13, 2022

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health,
to amend an existing contract with Headrest (VC#175226-R001), Lebanon, NH for suicide hotline
prevention services, by increasing the price limitation by $213,781 from $800,000 to $1,013,781
with no change to the contract completion date of June 30, 2023, effective upon Governor and
Council approval. 18% Federal Funds. 82% General Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on January 22, 2020, item
#14 and most recently amended with Governor and Council approval on May 19. 2021, item #20.

Funds are available in the following accounts for State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023, with
the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
state fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-92-922010-41170000 Health & Social Services, Department of Health & Human
Services, HHS: Behavioral Heaith, Div of, Bureau of Mentai Health Services, CMH Program
Support

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget ^

2020 103-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc
92204117

$200,000 $0 $200,000

2021 103-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc 92204117
$200,000 $0 $200,000

2022 103-500731
Contracts for v

Prog Svc 92204117
$200,000 $30,000 $230,000

2023 103-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc 92204117
$200,000 $0 $200,000

Subtotal $800,000 $30,000 $830,000

The Department of Heallh and Human Seruicea'Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.



DocuSign Envelope ID; D1E3E5FC-5FC7-4E27-9108-3C7FB021CD6»

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
aixl the Horx)rable Counci

Page 2 of 3

05-92-92-920010-25940000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, HEALTH AND HUMAN SVCS
DEPT. HHS: BEHAVIORAL HEALTH DiV, DIV BEHAVIORAL HEALTH OPERATIONS. 988
GRANT

State

Fiscal

Year

Class/

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2023 074-500585

Grants For

Pub Asst

And Rel

TBD $0 $171,781 $171,781

Subtotal $0 $171,781 $171,781

05-95-92-922010-41200000 Health & Social Services. Department of Health & Human
Services, HHS: Behavioral Health. Div of. Bureau of Mental Health Services. Mental Health
Block Grant

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)

Amount

Revised

Budget

2023 074-500585

Grants For

Pub Asst

And Rel

92254120 $0 $12,000 $12,000

Subtotal $0 $12,000 $12,000

Total $800,000 $213,781 $1,013,781

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request Is for the Contractor to expand the provision of the National
Suicide Prevention Lifeline services to include chat and text modalities. The Contractor will hire
staff dedicated to these modalities, and train current staff on these new functions.

Approximately 33,000 individuals will be served during State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023.

The Contractor will add chat and text functions to Lifeline services, which offer free and
confidential emotional support to people in a suicidal crisis or emotional distress twenty-four (24)
hours per day, seven (7) days per week. The Contractor's trained staff will continue to provide
individuals with information and referral services, personal support, crisis intervention and suicide
intervention. The Contractor will continue to collaborate with the Department's behavioral health
crisis response access point contractor, when necessary, to dispatch mobile crisis response
teams.

In 2020, Congress designated the new 988 dialing code to operate through the existing
National Suicide Prevention Lifeline's (1-800-273-8255) network of over 200 locally operated and
funded crisis centers across the country. On July 16, 2022, the U.S. will transition to using the
988-dialing code, providing an opportunity to strengthen and expand the existing Lifeline. 988 is
more than just an easy-to-remember number, it is a direct connection to compassionate,
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accessible care and support for anyone experiencing mental health-related distress. People can
also dial 988 if they are worried about a loved one who may need crisis support.

A best practice crisis system model includes someone to call (access points with 24/7
call/text/chat), someone to respond (mobile crisis teams) and somewhere to go (stabilization
services). New Hampshire is already building this model through the recent launch of the Rapid
Response access point and the expansion of mobile crisis teams statewide and across the
lifespan. For many years, the Contractor has been the only local crisis center accepting lifeline
calls in NH. NH has been planning for 988 launch for the past year, which includes onboarding a
second call center (Rapid Response Access Point) and building capacity for the cunent
Contractor to expand to the chat and text modalities needed for the full 988 model. NH has
worked closely wth 211 and 911 stakeholders throughout the planning process including on
transfer protocols and public communications.

The Department will monitor services by reviewing monthly reports submitted by the
Contractor.

Should the Govemor and Council not authorize this request, individuals who are at risk for
suicide will not have a telephone, chat, or text lifeline available as resources, and will lose critical
intervention support services. Recent research shows that for every completed suicide, there are
135 people impacted by the death. The ramifications of even one additional suicide are great.

Area served: Statewide.

Source of Federal Funds; Assistance Listing Number #93.243, H79SM086074

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available, General Funds will not
be requested to support this program.

Respectfully submitted.

— (V-

Lori A. Shibinette

Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment U2

This Amendment to the Suicide Hotline Services contract is by and between the State of New Hampshire,
Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or "Department") and Headrest ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on January 22, 2020, (Item #14). as amended on May 19, 2021, (Item #20), the Contractor agreed to
perform certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and
in consideration of certain sums specified: and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Govemor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to increase the price limitation or modify the scope of services to support
continued delivery of these services; and ,

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$1,013,781.

2. Modify Exhibit A, Scope of Services, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit A, Amendment #2,
Scope of Services, in order to update program requirements, which is attached hereto and
incorporated by reference herein.

3. Modify Exhibit B-3, Budget, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B-3, Amendment #2, Budget,
which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

4. Modify Exhibit B-4, Budget, by replacing it in its entirety with Exhibit B-4, Amendment #2, Budget,
which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

—08

(i:/'

Headrest

SS-2020-DBH-05-SUICI-01-A02

A-S-1.2

Page 1 of 3

Contractor Initials

Date
6/15/2022
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

6/15/2022

Date

DoeuSignvd by:

FOX

Title: Di rector

6/15/2022

Date

Headrest

r—DocuSlon«d by:

N3,;^g?»6n Ford
Title: Executive Director

Headrest --

SS-2020-DBH-05-SUICI-01-A02

A-S-1.2

Page 2 of 3
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

• OocuSigntd by:uocusiQMfl by:

6/15/2022

D^e W^^i'lfirGuarino
Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: • (date of meeting)

I

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

Headrest A-S-1.2

SS-2020-DBH-05-SUICI-01-A02 Page 3 of 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A, Amendment #2

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Appiicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor shall submit a detailed description of the language assistance
services they will provide to persons with limited English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or.services within ten (10) days of the
contract effective date.

1.2. The Contractor shall participate in a kick-off meeting with the Department within
10 days of the contract effective date to review contract timelines, scope, and
deliverables.

1.3. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal legislation or
court orders may have an impact on the Services described herein, the
Department has the right to modify Service priorities and expenditure
requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve compliance therewith.

1.4. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Department has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipient, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall provide professionally trained staff for crisis center services
following the required practices of the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline
(Lifeline). The Contractor shall provide services twenty-four (24) hours per day,
seven (7) days per week by answering calls, texts, and chats from individuals
primarily located in New Hampshire in order to support individuals and offer local
interventions to individuals at risk of suicide, de-escalate crises, and provide
individuals with information and referrals relating to community services.

2.2. Whereas the Contractor participates as a crisis intervention center within the
National Suicide Prevention Lifeline Network, funded through the , federal
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), the
Contractor shall provide Lifeline services in accordance with the Contractor's
Network Agreement (the Network Agreement), with Vibrant Emotional Health,
which is the SAMHSA identified Administrator of the National Suicide Prevention

Lifeline. /

2.3. The Contractor shall maintain its Network Agreement in Section 2.2 above for
the duration of this Agreement.

2.4. The Contractor shall maintain their national accreditation as a Lifeline service

and provide.the Department with a copy of any renewal or loss of certification
within five (5) days of said certification or its loss.

2.5. The Contractor shall use Lifeline protocols as described in the Network
Agreement when communicating and shall directly ask each individual about
suicidality and shall complete a suicide risk assessment that incorporates the
principles and subcomponents described in the Network Agreement.

Headrest Exhibit A, Amendment #2 Contractor Initials

6/15/2022
SS-2020-DBH.05-SUICI-01-A02 Page 1 of 6 Date

V
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A, Amendment #2

2.6. Using the practices of engagement described in the Network Agreement, the
Contractor shall engage individuals and initiate all measures to offer evidence
based and local interventions to work with the individual to ensure safely of the
safety of the individuals for whom there is information that a suicide attempt has
already been made or there is imminent risk of suicide.

2.7. The Contractor shall follow up with individuals either by telephone, text or chat
post crisis, within 48 hours after contact, to ensure they are connected to other
services as applicable.

2.8. The Contractor shall maintain written, evidenced-based guidelines, policies, and
procedures consistent with the Network Agreement and the Lifeline protocols
for how staff shall respond to and assist individuals determined by the
Contractor to be a danger to themselves or to others such as, but not limited to:

2.8.1. How to conduct a lethality assessment of the applicable risk level;

2.8.2. Procedures applicable to the dispatch of rescue personnel, including,
without limitation, in those instances where an individual refuses to
volunteer cooperation; and

2.8.3. Procedures applicable to follow-up with the individual.

2.9. The Contractor shall maintain contact answer speed in line with the National
-  Suicide Prevention Lifeline standards, required for national Lifeline Centers as
governed by SAMHSA.

2.10. The Contractor shall not:

2.10.1. Utilize an answering service or cellular telephones to answer incoming
calls;

2.10.2. Utilize an automated attendant or any other system that requires a
caller to press a telephone key in order to be connected with Center
Staff;

2.10.3. Utilize a system where incoming calls are fonwarded to a third party;
and

2.10.4. Allow calls to be answered by a receptionist or any Center Staff not
trained to assist individuals.

2.11. The Contractor shall maintain and provide to the Department upon request,
written guidelines, policies, and procedures for how to refer individuals to
community services so that individuals are given an appropriate array of options
with respect to treatment, care and/or follow-up; options shall not be limited in
any manner to organizations, facilities or providers affiliated with or related to
the Center.

2.12. The Contractor shall ensure professionally trained staffing at all times, including
staff dedicated to answering chats and texts.

p
Headrest Exhibit A, Amendment #2 Contractor Initials ^

6/15/2022
SS-2020-D8H-05-SUICI-01-A02 Page 2 of 6 Date
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A, Amendment #2

2.13. The Contractor shall provide the Department with copies of their written policies
and procedures for providing the Lifeline service, including but not limited to:

2.13.1. Supervision and training requirements;

2.13.2. Code of ethics;

2.13.3. Grievance process; and

2.13.4. Quality assurance and program evaluation.

2.14. The Contractor shall ensure that staff receive all necessary training prior to
commencing any services under this Agreement in accordance with guidelines
in the Network Agreement.

2.15. The Contractor shall provide ongoing in-service training'for staff at intervals as
needed to ensure continuous quality service.

2.16. The Contractor shall collaborate with the Department and other providers,
including the provider that operates 211 in New Hampshire, to educate
communities and provide online and printed information and resources for
statewide distribution.

2.17. The Contractor shall attend the State's Emergency Service meetings as
requested.

2.18. The Contractor shall enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with
the Department's Behavioral Health Crisis Response System contractor, to
establish a real-time connection to allow for the direct leveraging of the
appropriate provider based on need and acuity.

3. Reporting

3.1. The Contractor shall ensure the following de-identified and aggregated data is
provided to Vibrant Emotional Health on a monthly basis, according to the
Network Agreement, during the term of this Agreement:
3.1.1. The number of calls, chats, and texts received;

3.1.2. The number of follow-up contacts by the Contractor with the individual
post crisis;

3.1.3. Referrals and the reasons for the referrals and for what type of service;

3.1.4. Answered calls, chats, and texts locally in New Hampshire and the
number of calls, chats, and texts that were re-routed to another out-of-
state contact center; and

3.1.5. Outreach and education efforts with a description of what was done
and results, if it can be determined.

3.2. The Contractor shall ensure that neither protected health information (PHI) nor
personally identifiable information (Pll) is processed or stored outside of'the
system used by Vibrant Emotional Health. (—os

Headrest Exhibit A, Amendment #2 Contractor Initials.
6/15/2022
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A, Amendment #2

3.3. The Contractor shall provide:

3.3.1. A copy of the national suicide prevention report for New Hampshire
that is submitted to the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline; and

3.3.2. A copy of the Accreditation certificate within 10 days of the effective
date of this contract.

4. Performance Measures

4.1. The Contractor's performance shall be measured by the following:

4.1.1. At least 5% increased portion of calls, chats, and texts answered in
state rather than re-routed to an out-of-state contact center compared
to last year;

4.1.2. At least 5% increased number of follow-ups and communication with
.  Individuals post crisis compared to last year; and

4.1.3. At least 5% Increased community outreach and education of this
service compared to last year.

5. Exhibits Incorporated

5.1. The Contractor shall use and disclose Protected Health Information in

compliance with the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information (Privacy Rule) (45 CFR Parts 160 and 164) under the Health
Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996, and In
accordance with the attached Exhibit I, Business Associate Agreement, which
has been executed by the parties.

5.2. The Contractor shall manage all confidential data related to this Agreement in
accordance with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information Security
Requirements.

5.3. The Contractor shall comply with all Exhibits D through K, which are attached
hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

6. Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity

6.1. In order to enable the Department to evaluate the Contractor's fiscal integrity,
the Contractor agrees to submit to the Department monthly, the Balance Sheet,
Profit and Loss Statement, and Cash Flow Statement for the Contractor. The

Profit and Loss Statement shall Include a budget column allowing for budget to
actual analysis. Statements shall be submitted within thirty (30) calendar days
after each month end. The Contractor shall be evaluated on the following:

6.1.1. Days of Cash on Hand:

6.1.1.1. Definition: The days of operating expenses that can be
covered by the unrestricted cash on hand.

— OS

c/"

Headresl Exhibit A, Amendment #2 Contractor Initials ̂
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A, Amendment #2

6.1.1.2. Formula: Cash, cash equivalents and short term investments
divided by total operating expenditures, less
depreciation/amortization and in-kind plus principal payments
on debt divided by days in the reporting period. The short-term
investments as used above shall mature within three (3)
months and should not include common stock.

6.1.1.3. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall have enough
cash and cash equivalents to cover expenditures for a
minimum of thirty (30) calendar days with no variance allowed.

6.1.2. Current Ratio:

6.1.2.1. Definition: A measure of the Contractor's total current assets

available to cover the cost of current liabilities.

6.1.2.2. Formula: Total current assets divided by total current liabilities.

6.1.2.3. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum current ratio of 1.5:1 with 10% variance allowed.

6.1.3. Debt Service Coverage Ratio:

6.1.3.1. Rationale: This ratio illustrates the Contractor's ability to cover
the cost of its current portion of its long-term debt.

6.1.3.2. Definition: The ratio of Net Income to the year to date debt
service. '

6.1.3.3. Formula: Net Income plus Depreciation/Amortization Expense
plus Interest Expense divided by year to date debt service-
(principal and interest) over the next twelve (12) months.

6.1.3.4. Source of Data: The Contractor's Monthly Financial
Statements identifying current portion of long-term debt
payments (principal and interest).

6.1.3.5. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum standard of 1.2:1 with no variance allowed.

6.1.4. Net Assets to Total Assets:

6.1.4.1. Rationale: This ratio is an indication of the Contractor's ability
to cover its liabilities.

6.1.4.2. Definition: The ratio of the Contractor's ne't assets to total
assets.

6.1.4.3. Formula: Net assets (total assets less total liabilities) divided
by total assets.

>6.1.4.4. Source of Data: The Contractor's Monthly Financial
Statements. , DS

Headrest Exhibit A, Amendment #2 Contractor Initials ^
6/15/2022
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A, Amendment #2

6.1.4.5. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum ratio of .30:1, with a 20% variance allowed.

6.2. In order to enable the Department to evaluate the Contractor's fiscal integrity,
the Contractor agrees to submit to the Department monthly, the Balance Sheet,
the Profit and Loss statement for the month and year-to-date for the agency
and the Profit and Loss statement for the month and year-to-date for the
program being funded with this contract.

6.3. In the event that the Contractor does not meet either:

6.3.1. The standard regarding Days of Cash on Hand and the standard
regarding Current Ratio for two (2) consecutive months; or

6.3.2. Three (3) or more of any of the Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity
standards for three (3) consecutive months, then

6.3.3. The Department may require that the Contractor meet with Department
staff to explain the reasons that the Contractor has not met the
standards.

6.3.4. The Department may require the Contractor to submit a
comprehensive corrective action plan within thirty (30) calendar days of
notification that 6.3.1. and/or 6.3.2. have not been met.

6.3.4.1. The Contractor shall update the corrective action plan at least
every thirty (30) calendar days until compliance is achieved.

6.3.4.2. The Contractor shall provide additional information to assure
continued access to services as requested by the Department.
The Contractor shall provide requested information in a
timeframe agreed upon by both parties.

6.4. The Contractor shall Inform the Department by phone and by email within
twenty-four (24) hours of when any key Contractor staff learn of any actual or
likely litigation, investigation, complaint, claim, or transaction that may

'  reasonably be considered to have a material financial impact on and/or
materially impact or impair the ability of the Contractor to perform under this
Agreement with the Department.

6.5. The monthly Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss Statement, Cash Flow Statement,
and all other financial reports shall be based on the accrual method of
accounting and include the Contractor's total revenues and expenditures
whether or not generated by or resulting from funds provided pursuant to this
Agreement. These reports are due within thirty (30) calendar days after the end
of each month.

-DS

Cf

Headrest Exhibit A. Amendment #2 Contractor Initials
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Budget

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
"  Centraetar nain* Haadnal

Budgat Raquaat for SuieiOa Hotfca Sa<vicaa
* •-

Sudgat Parted; July 1. 2021 (hrough Juno 30,2022 '

.  . _ Total Program Cost Contractor Share y Match ' Funded by DHHS contract share

Line Item Direct '' '  Indirect Total Direct Indirect • Total Direct Indirect Total

1. Total Salanywaaes S  188.143.00 S  67.771.06 S  255,914.06 $ S  67.771.06 S  67.771.06 S  188.143.00 % S  f188.143.00

2. Emolovee Beneflts $  23.307.93 S  23,307.93 $ $ $  23,307.93 s S  23.307.93

3. Consultanis s $ $ $ s

A. Eauioment: $ $ $ s $

Rental S  956.15 $  956.15 $ $ $ S  956.15 $  956.15

Reoairand Maintenance $ S $ s $ i

Purchase/Tecrmdoav $ $ $ $ $ s $ s

5. SuDDlies; s $ $ s $ s $ s

Educational S  375.00 $ S  375.00 $ % s $  375.00 $ S  375.00

Lab $ s $ s s s $

Pharmacv s s $ $ s s s

Medical s $ s $ $ s

Office S  438.00 %  438.00 S s $ S  438.00 S  438.00

6. Travel $ $  500.00 %  500.00 s $ S  500.00 S  500.00

7, Occuoancv $ $  4,601.11 $  4.601.11 s $  4,601.11 S  4.601.11

8. Current Exoenses $ $ s s s s

Teleohone S  1,434.50 $ 5  1.434.50 s $  1.434.50 s S  1.434.50

Postaoe $ $ s $ $ $

Subscrioiions $ $ s $ $

Audit and Leoal $ $  4,759.25 S  4.759.25 s S  2,500.00 $  2.500.00 S  2.259.25 S  2,259.25

hsiAance $ S  4,920.00 $  4.920.00 s S  3.147,54 $  3.147.54 s S  1.772.46 S  "1.772.46

Board Exoenses j % s

9. Software S  600.00 S S  600.00 S  600.00 S  600.00 s

10. MarXetino/Ccmmunications s S  4,662.60 S  . 4,662.60 s s $  4,662.60 S  4,662.60

11. Staff Education and Training $  1.550.00 5 ' S  1,550.00 $ s s S  1.550.00 $ S  1.550.00

12. Subcontracts/Agreements $ $ s 5

13. Ottier Isoebfic details mandatory); $ • s $ s •$

$ $ s % s

$ $ s s

s $ $ $

TOTAL S  215,410A3 S  , 88,608.17 $  304,018.60 %  600.00 i  73.418.60 $  74,018.60 $  214310.43 S  15,189.57 S  230,000.00

kidk«et Aft A P*rc*nt ol Olrtct

HaadiMt

SS-2020O8H-0fr^UX:M02

E^Mbit B-3, AmtnSmanI 82

Pag* 1 ot1

Cortiacto' Iritiak
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Sude)« Holina Sarvteaa Exhibit Amendment #2

Budget

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Contractor nam Haadnst

BudpM Raquatt tor Suicid* HoUbta Sarvtcaa

Budgal Pactod: Juty t. 2022 mrough Juna 30. 2023

Line item

Total Program Cost

Direct Indirect Total

Contractor Share I Match.

Direct Indirect Total

Funded by DHHS contract share

Direct Indirect Total

1. Total SaiarvWaqes 216,722.00 69.80d.ig 286.526.19 69.804.19 69.804.19 216.722.00 216.722.00

2. Employee Benefits 39.709.93 39.709.93 39.709.93 39.709.93

3. Consultants

4. Eouipment:

Rental 956.15 956.15 956.15 956.15

Repair and Malntertance

Purchase/Techfwioov 18.800.00 18.800.00 18.800.00 18.800.00

5. Supplies:
Educaiionai 375.00 375.00 375-00 375-00

Lab

Pttarmacv

Medical

Office 438.00 438.00 438.00 438.00

6. Travel 500.00 500.00 500.00 500.00

7. Occupancy 4.601.11 4.601.11 4.601.11 4.601.11

8. Current Expenses

Telephone 1.434.50 1.434.50 1.434.50 1.434.50

Postage

Sut)SCrioticrts

Audit and Legal 4.634.25 4.834.25 2.575.00 2.575.00 2.259.25 2.259.25

Insurance 5.014.43 5.014.43 3.241.97 3.241.97 1.772.46 1.772.46

Board Expenses

9. Software 618.00 618.00 618.00 618.00

10. Marfceting/Communications 4.662.60 4.662.60 4.662.60 4.662.60

11. Staff Education and Training 69.050.00 69.050.00 69.050.00 69.050.00

12. Sutxxmtracis/Agreements 22.500.00 22.500.00 22.500.00 22.500.00

13. Other (specific deiaiis inandaiory):

TOTAL 369.209A3 90,810.73 460,020.16 618.00 75,621.16 76,239.16 368,591.43 15,189.57 383,781.00

kidlrect At A P*rc*nl of Oirvct 24.6%

HaadrMl

SS'202(K>BH-0fr.SUICtA02

EdttK B-4. Ajnerdmact «2

P^ 1 ol 1

01 Irdiab
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

I, David M. Scanlan, Sccrelan' of Slate of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that HEADREST is a New

Hampshire Nonprofit Coiporalion registered to transact business in New Hampsiiire on April 27. 1972. 1 further certify that all

fees and documents required by the Secrelar>' of State's office have been received and is in good standing as far as this office is

concerned.

Business ID: 61466 '

Certi ficatc Number: 0005770571

SI
%

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

1 hereto set my hand and cause to be atTi.xed

the Seal of the Slate of New Hampshire,

this 3rd day of May A.D. 2022.

David M. Scanlan

Secrctarv of State
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Certificate of Authority # 1 (Corporation. Non-Profu Corporation)

Corporate

Resolution

I Laura Cousineau, hereby certify that I am duly elected Clerk/Secretary/Officerof

Headrest Inc. I hereby certify the following is a true copy of a vote taken at the

monthly meeting of the Board of Directors/shareholders, duly called and held on

6/14/2022 at which a quorum of the Directors/shareholders were present and voting

or were polled via email as allowed by Headrest bylaws.

VOTED: That Cameron Ford. Executive Director is

duly authorized to enter into contracts or agreements on behalf of Headrest

inc. with the State of New Hampshire and any of its agencies or

departments and further is authorized to execute any documents which may

in his judgment be desirable or necessary to effect the purpose of this vote.

I hereby certify that said vote has not been amended or repealed and

remains in full force and effect as of the date of the contract to which

this certificate is attached. This authority remains valid for thirty (30)

days from the date of this Corporate Resolution. I further certify that it is

understood that the State of New Hampshire will rely on this certificate

as evidence that the person(s) listed above currently occupy the

position(s) indicated and that they have full authority to bind the

corporation. To the extent that there are any limits on the authority.of

any listed individual to bind the corporation in contracts with the State

of New Hampshire, all such limitations are expressly stated herein.

DATED: 6/14/2022 ATTEST:

Laura K. Cousineau, Secretary
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CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (UM/DD/VYYY)

6/13/2022

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS

CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES

BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S). AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder Is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the pollcy(ies) must be endorsed. If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to

the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

PRODUCER

THE ROWLEY AGENCY INC.

A B Gile, a division of

P.O. Box 511

Concord NH 03302-0511

Chriatinai Holman

K (603)224-2562
E-MAIL
ADDRESS;

INSURERISI AFFORDING COVERAGE NAJC •

iNSURERA: Philadalphia Insuranca Company

INSURED

Haadrast, Inc.

Haadrast, Inc. dba CAIP

14 Church Straat

Labanon NH 03766

INSURERB:Eastarn Allianca Insuranca Co. 10724

INSURER C:

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER:21-22 All linas $3M. REVISION NUMBER:

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD

INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT. TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS

CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN. THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,

EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSR
VTR TYPE OF INSURANCE

ADDL
iMsn

SUBft
wvn POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
(MM/D0/YYYY1

POLICY exp
(MM/00/YYYY1 LIMnS

A

X COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

raPR21S8369 7/IS/2021 7/15/2022

EACH OCCURRENCE s  1,000,000

CLAIMS-MADE X OCCUR
DAMAGE TO RENTED
PRFMISER (Ea oceurnmon 5  100,000

X Profassionai Liability MED EXP (Any ona parson) $  5,000

PERSONAL s aov injury $  1,000,000

GENl AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER; GENERALAGGREGATE J  3,000,000

X POLICY 1 1 5e^ I 1 LOG
OTHER:

PRODUCTS • COMPlOP AGG S  3,000,000

Employaa Banaflu S  1,000,000

A

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

PaPR21S8365 7/15/2021 7/15/2022

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT S  1,000,000

ANYALfTO

HEOULED

TOS
N^IWNEO

TOS

BODILY INJURY (Per person) s

ALL OWNED
ALfTOS

HIRED AUTOS

X
SC BODILY INJURY (Per ecddent) s

X X
NC PROPERTY DAMAGE

(Per acekJenil
s

Hlradyiwnowad s

A

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

X OCCUR

CLAJMS-MAOE

PHUB731419 7/15/2021 7/15/2022

EACH OCCURRENCE S  3.000.000

AGGREGATE S  3.000,000

DEO X RETENTIONS 10.000 s

B

W^KERS COMPENSATION

AND EMPLOYERS'LIABILITY y/N
ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIve I 1
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? Y 1
(ManCatofy In NH) ' '
11 yes. Sesdba unoar
OESCfUPTlON OF OPERATIONS bekAv

N/A

axel officara: B of Dicactora

128046-01 - 3A: NH 7/15/2021 • 7/15/2022

X
PER
STATUTE

OTH
ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT S  500000

E.L. DISEASE • EA EMPLOYEE S  500000

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT S  500000

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS 1 VEHICLES (ACORD 101. Addftional Ramarka Schadula. may ba attaehad 1' mora spaca la raqulrad)

EVIDENCE OF INSURANCE

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION .

State of New Han^shrie

Dept of Health & Human Services
129 Pleasant

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE

THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

C Holman, CPCU, CIC/C

ACORD 25 (2014/01)
INS025 (201401)

1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD
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Head R E s T

Mission Stdtenient^updatedJanuary 2020)

Headrest supports individuals and their families, friends and neighbors affected by
substance use, navigating recovery, or in crisis, by providing effective programs and

treatment options that support prevention and long-term recovery.
Headrest will never turn anyone away.

Vision:

We imagine a world where there is no shame in getting the help you need.
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HEADREST, INC.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020



DocuSign Envelope ID; D1E3E5FC-5FC7-4E27-9108-3C7FB021CD68

CONTENTS

Page

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 1-2

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statement of Financial Position, June 30, 2021
With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2020 3

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 ^
With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Statement of Functional Expenses
For the Year Ended June 30, 2021 ' ^
With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Statements of Cash Flows

For the Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 6

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7-13



DocuSign Envelope ID: D1E3E5FC-5FC7-4E27-9108-3C7FB021CD68

Rowley & Associates P.C,

Certified Public Accountants

46 N. STATE STREET

CONCORD. NEW HAMPSHIRE 03301

TELEPHONE (603) 228-5400

MEMBER FAX #{603) 226-3532
AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

MEMBER OF THE PRIVATE

COMPANIES PR.ACTICE SECTION

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS^ REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

To the Board of Directors

Headrest, Inc.

Lebanon, New Hampshire

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Headrest, Inc. (a New Hampshire nonprofit
corporation), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2021 and the related statements of
activities and changes in net assets, functional expenses and cash fiows for the year then ended, and the related
notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Headrest, Inc. as of June 30, 2021 and the statements of activities and changes in its net assets,
functional expenses and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Headrest, Inc. and to meet our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

-1-
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Aoditors' Responsibilities for the Andit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report, that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore, is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control. Misstatements, including omissions, are considered material if there is a substantial
likelihood that, individually or in aggregate, they would influence the judgement made by a reasonable user based
on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we:

Exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, and design arid perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining,
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
Headrest, Inc.'s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Conclude whether, in our judgement, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise
substantial doubt about Headrest, Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we
identified during the audit.

Report CO Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited Headrest, Inc.'s 2020 financial statements, and we expressed an unmodified audit
opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated December 16, 2020. In our opinion, the
summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, is consistent, in
all material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.

Rowley & Associates, P.O.
Concord, New Hampshire
February 11, 2022

-2-
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HEADREST, INC

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSmON

June 30, 2021, With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2020

See Independent Auditors' Report

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable

Net Assets

Without Donor

Restrictions

619,776

111,860

Net Assets

With Donor

Restrictions

S  131,211

2021

Total

750,987

111,860

2020

468,485

110,500

4,800

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 731,636 131,211 862,847 583,785

FDCED ASSETS

Land

Building and improvements

Furnishings and equipment

19,010

241,037

252.845

- 19,010

241,037

252,845

19,010

241,037

201,123

Total Fixed Assets

Less accumulated depreciation

512,892

(367,002)

- 512,892

(367,002)

461,170

(345,474)

145,890 - 145,890 115,696

OTHER ASSETS

Loan origination fee, net of amortization 248 248 374

TOTAL ASSETS $ 877,774 $ 131,211 S 1,008.985 $ 699,855

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CUjRRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable $
Accrued expenses

Line of credit

Current portion of long term debt

3,285 S

52,922

11,117

S 3,285 $

52,922

11,117

21,765

57,905

■  10,628

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 67,324 . 67,324 90,298

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Long term debt -  12,622 12,622 23.738

OTHER LIABILITIES

SEA Payroll Protection Program loan 182,300

TOTAL LIABILITIES 79,946 79,946 296,336

NET ASSETS

Net assets without donor restriction

Net assets with donor restriction

797,828

131,211

797,828

131,211

403,519

TOTAL NET ASSETS 797,828 131,211 929,039 403,519

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 877,774 $ 131.211 $ 1,008,985 $ 699,855

Notes to Financial Statements

-3-
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HEADREST, INC

STATEMENT OF ACTIVmES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

For The Year Ended June 30, 2021
With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended Jime 30, 2020

See Independent Auditors' Report

SUPPORT AND REVENUE

State contracts

Local government grants

Contributions

Service fees

Other grants

SBA Paycheck Protection Program loan forgiveness

Interest

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUE

Net assets released from donor

imposed restrictions

EXPENSES

Program services

Management and general

Fundraising

Net Assets

Without Donor

Restrictions

$  658,746

101,460

140,456

755,104

254,412

182,300.

645

2,093,123

1,420,020

240,897

37,897

Net Assets

With Donor

Restrictions

56,211

75,000

131,211

2021

Total

658,746

101,460

196,667

755,104

329,412

182,300

645

2,224,334

1,698,814

1,420.020

240,897

37,897

2020

536,315

123,510

157,492

658.399

282,057

226

1,757,999

1,698,814

1,264,857

176,965

37,263

1,479,085

Increase in net assets

Net Assets, Beginning of year

Net assets, End of year

394,309

403,519

131,211 525,520

403,519

797,828 $ 131,211 $ 929,039 $

278,914

124,605

403,519

Notes to Financial Statements

-4-
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HEADREST, INC

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

For The Year Ended June 30, 2021

With Comparative Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2020

See Independent Auditors' Report

Program Services Management 2021 2020

Outpatient CMRD Total & General Fundraising Total Total

Payroll $ 716,702 $ 238,901 $ 955,603 $  83,096 5  26,633 $ 1,065,332 $ 982,461

Payroll taxes 60,620 20,206 80,826 7,028 2,253 90,107 78,118

Fringe benefits . 88,993 29,664 118,657 10,318 3,307 132,282 114,961

Professional fees - - - 33,836 ! 33,836 30,432

Telephone and internet 2,368 967 3,335 2,232 . 5,567 3,664

Printing • - - "  1,013 608 1,621 4,936

Depreciation 12,762 5,212 17,974 3,681 - 21,655 16,736

Rent 27,834 11,369 39,203 8,029 - 47,232 43,472

Utilities 16,287 6,652 22,939 4,698 - 27,637 .29,217

Billing Services 45,347 - 45,347 - - 45,347 43,373

Repairs and maintenance 42,911 17,527 60,438 12,379 - 72,817 25,556

Supplies , 9,163 3,742 12,905 9,043 • 21,948 16,083

Vehicle expense 5,272 2,154 7,426 4,767 - 12,193 8,479

Interest 785 321 1,106 225 - 1,331 3,722

Insurance 22,170 9,056 31,226 2,715 870 34,811 29,941

Food - 18,510 18,510 - - .  18,510 18,266

Professional development 907 370 1,277 2,252 - 3,529 8,015

Membership dues and fees ■ - - 13,268 - 13,268 9,129

Laundry • 2,319 2,319 - - 2,319 2,270

Miscellaneous • 929 929 • 4,226 5,155 6,662

Website & Marketing - - - 42,317 - 42,317 3,592

TOTAL EXPENSES 51,052.121 5 367,899 S 1,420,020 5  240,897 $  37,897 $ 1,698,814 $1,479,085

Notes to Financial Statements

-5-
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HEADREST, INC

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For.The Years Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

See Independent Auditors' Report

2021 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACnVITIES

Change in Net Assets $  525,520 $  278,914

Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets

to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 21,655 16,736

Forgiveness of SBA Paycheck Proteaion Program loan (182,300) -

(Increase) in Operating Assets

Accounts receivable (1,360) (1>501)

Grants receivable - 20,000

Prepaid expenses 4,800 (403)

(Decrease) increase In Operating Liabilities

Accounts payable (18,481) 10,144

Accrued expenses (4,983) 19,941

Line of credit -
(35,128)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 344,851 308,703

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of vehicle and equipment (51,722) (18,341)

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net Proceeds, Payroll Protection Plan - 182,300

Repayments of long term notes payable (10,627) (10,984)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES (10,627) 171,316

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 282,502 461,678

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 468,485 6,807

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $  750.987 $  468.485

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOW

Cash paid for interest $  1,331 $  3,722

Notes to Financial Statements

-6-
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HEADR£ST, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 1. NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Activities

Headrest, Inc. ("Headrest") is a New Hampshire nonprofit corporation that provides
information and referral, crisis intervention and other related services through the uses of a
telephone hotline and office visitations. Headrest also provides outpatient counseling,
residential treatment, and information to the commuriity relating to drugs and alcohol. The
organization's primary source of income is from state contracts, service fees, grants, and
donations.

Significant Accounting Policies

The summary of significant accounting policies of the Organization is presented to assist in
understanding the Organization's fmancial statements. The financial statements and notes are
representations of the Organization's management who is responsible for their integrity and
objectivity. These accounting policies conform to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
and have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial statements.

Basis of Presentation

The Organization maintains its accounting records on the accrual basis of accounting whereby
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when the obligation is incurred.
The Organization reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to
two classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor

restrictions.

Net Assets without Donor Restrictions - These net assets generally result from revenues
generated by receiving contributions that have no donor restrictions, providing services, and
receiving interest from operating investments, less expenses incurred in providing program-
related services, raising contributions, and performing administrative functions.

Net Assets with Donor Restrictions - These net assets result from gifts of cash and other
assets that are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets, either
temporarily or permanently, until the donor restriction expires, that is until the stipulated
time restriction ends or the purpose of the restriction is accomplished, the net assets are
restricted.

Comparative Financial Information

The financial statements include certain prior-year summarized comparative information in
total but not by net asset class. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute
a presentation in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. Accordingly, such
information should be read in conjunction with the Organization's financial statements for the
year ended June 30, 2020, from which the summarized information was derived.

-7-
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HEADREST, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 1. NATURE OF ACTIVITIES AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property and Equipment

All acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $1,000 and all expenditures for repairs,
maintenance, renewals, and betterments that materially prolong the useful lives of assets are
capitalized. Property and equipment are carried at cost or, if donated, at the approximate fair
value at the date of donation. Depreciation is computed using primarily the straight-line
method. Depreciation expense was $21,655 and $16,736 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

Income taxes

The Organization has been notified by the Internal Revenue Service that it is exempt from
federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Organization
is further classified as an organization that is not a private foundation under Section 509(a)(3)
of the Code. The most significant tax positions of the Organization are its assertion that it is
exempt from income taxes and its determination of whether any amounts are subject to
unrelated business tax (UBIT). The Organization follows the guidance of Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 740, Accounting for Income Taxes, related to uncertain income
taxes, which prescribes a threshold of more likely than not for recognition and recognition of
tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. All significant tax positions have
been considered by management. It has been determined that it is more likely than not that all
tax positions would be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. Accordingly, no
provision for income taxes has been recorded.

Grants Receivable and Recognition of Donor Restricted Contributions

Contributions are recognized when the donor makes an unconditional promise to give to the
Organization. Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in net
assets without donor restriction if the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the
contributions are recognized. All other donor-restricted contributions are reported as increases
in net assets with donor restriction. When a restriction expires, net assets with donor restriction
are reclassified to net assets without donor restriction. Contributions of long-lived assets are
considered without donor restriction unless the donor specifies a time-restriction.

The Organization provides for losses on grants and accounts receivable using the allowance
method. The allowance is based on experience, third-party contracts, and other circumstances,
which may affect the ability of donors to meet their obligations. Receivables are considered
impaired if full principal payments are not received in accordance with the contractual terms. It
is the Organization's policy to charge off uncollectible grants and accounts receivable when
management determines the receivable will not be collected. There were no balances in the
allowance account related to accounts receivable as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 because all
amounts were deemed collectable.

-8-
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HEADREST, INC
NOTES TO FTNANCIAT STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Organization considers all highly liquid
investments with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. For the
years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 the Organization had no cash equivalents.

Public Support and Revenue

All contributions are considered to be without donor restriction use unless specifically restricted
by the donor.

Functional Expenses

Functional and administrative expenses have been allocated among program services based on
an analysis of personnel time and space utilized for the related activities.

Cost Allocation

Certain categories of expenses are attributable to more than one program or supporting function
and are allocated on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. The expenses that are
allocated are payroll, payroll taxes, and fringe benefits which are allocated on the basis of
estimates of time and effort; rent, depreciation, utilities, and maintenance and repairs which are
allocated on the basis of space utilized for the related activities.

Compensated Absences

Employees of Headrest are entitled to earned benefit time (EBT) depending on job
classification, length of service and other factors. The accrued expense for EBT for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 were $13,756 and $24,485 respectively.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The contracts receivable allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon management's
assessment of the credit history with agencies, organizations and individuals having
outstanding balances and current relationships with them. There was no balance in the
allowance for doubtful accounts as of June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

-9-
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HEADREST, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 1. NATURE OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Concentration of Risk

The Organization maintains cash balances in several accounts at local banks. These accounts
are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation up to $250,000. At various times
throughout the year, the Organization may have cash balances at the financial institution that
exceeds the insured amount. Management does not believe this concentration of cash results in
a high level of risk for the Organization. At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Organization had
$500,971 and $218,485 in uninsured cash balances, respectively.

Financial Instruments

The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses,
accounts payable and accrued expenses are stated at carrying cost at June 30, 2021 and 2020,
which approximates fair value due to the relatively short maturity of these instruments.

Reclassifications

Certain financial statement and note information from the prior year financial statements has
been reclassified to conform with current year presentation format.

Subsequent Event

Management has evaluated subsequent events through February 11, 2022, the date on which
the financial statements were available to be issued to determine if any are of such significance
to require disclosure.

Subsequent to the year ended June 30, 2021 the Organization was involved in a merger with
Community Alcohol Information Program (a non-profit organization). The merger became
effective on August 13, 2021.

There were no other events matching this criterion during this period.

NOTE 2. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY ,

A substantial portion of Headrest's revenue comes from the Department of Health and Human
Services of the State of New Hampshire. For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 revenue from
the contract was approximately 29% and 30%, respectively of total revenue.

NOTE 3. LINE OF CREDIT

The Organization has a $75,000 line of credit with a local bank through January, 2022,
collateralized by all assets, with interest at Wall Street Journal prime. Interest was 3.25% as of
June 30, 2021. The outstanding balance was $0 and $0 as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

-10-
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HEADREST, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 4. NOTES PAYABLE AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Notes payable and long-term debt consisted of the following as of:

June June

2021 2020

Mortgage note payable with bank with interest at 4.5%
dated July 31, 2003 and due July 15, 2023 with monthly
installments of principal and interest of $996.45, secured
by all assets of the organization. $ 2,3,739 $ 34,366

Less current maturities 11.117 10.628

Long term debt, less current maturity $ 12.622 $ 23.738

I,

Scheduled principal repayments on long term debt for the next four years and thereafter follows:

/  Year Ending
June 30

2022 $ 11,117
2023 11,627
2024 995

Total

NOTE 5. OPERATING LEASES

The Organization entered a five-year and three-month lease beginning February 2018 and expiring
April 2023 for office space. Rent expense related to this lease was $42,432 and $41,072 for the years
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively . Future minimum rent related to this lease as of June
30 is:

2022: 47,040

2023: 40.500

£ 87.540

The Organization entered a lease beginning January 2020 and expiring June 2020 with the right to
extend the lease a year at a time after the end date. Rent expense related to this lease was $4,800
and $2,400 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

-11-
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HEADREST, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

In accordance with PASS ASC 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, the Organization is
required to disclose certain information" about its financial assets and liabilities. Fair values of
assets measured on a recurring basis at June 30 were as follows:

Significant other
Observable Inputs

Fair Value (Level 2)

2021

Accounts receivable

2020

Accounts receivable $ 110.500 $ 110.500

The fair market value of accounts receivable are estimated at the present value of expected
future cash flows.

NOTE 7. NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS

Net assets subject to expenditure for specific purpose as of June 30:

2021 2020

Business Contributions $ 31,346 $

Byrne Foundation Grant 75,000
Spring Appeal $ 24.865 $ :

Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

NOTE 8. SBA PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN

On April 16, 2020 the Organization received approval of a loan from The U.S. Small Business
Administration as part of the Paycheck Protection Program in the amount of $182,300. On
December 3, 2020, the full amount of the loan was forgiven under the provisions of Section 1106 of
the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) (P.L. 116-136).

-12-
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HEADREST, INC
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

June 30, 2021 and 2020

NOTE 9. LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Organization has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its general
expenditures, liabilities and other obligations come due. The Organization's primary sources of
support are contributions, state contracts and grants. Most of that support is held for the purpose of
supporting the Organization's budget. The Organization has the following financial assets that
could readily be made available within one year to fund expenses without limitations:

2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 750,987 $ 468,485
Accounts receivable 111.860 110.500

862,847 578,985
Less amounts required to be held for

donor restriction 031.211) :
$ 578.985

-13-
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Supporting Individuals, their families, and communities affected by substance use or in crisis since 1971

Headrest Board Officers & Affiliations

Matt McKenney - Board Chair

Jay Leiter - Vice Chair

Development CTE

Laura Cousineau - Secretary (Retired)

Nominating CTE. Chair
Development CTE.
Governance CTE.

Perr>' Eaton — Treasurer

Board Treasurer'

Finance CTE chair

IT CTE. Chair

Stacie Fisk — Board Member

Merrimack County Sheriffs Office

Lauren Chambers - Board Member

Dartmouth Health

14 Church Street Lebanon, NH 03766 v. (603) 448-4872 f. (603) 448-1829

119 North Main Street Boscawen, NH 03303 v. (603) 753-8181 f. (603) 753-4422
www.Headrest.org
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Supporting individuals, their families, and communities affected by substance use or in crisis since,1971

John Vansant - Board Member

Facilities cte. Chair

Karl Ebbighausen - Board Member

Nominating CTE.

Kathie Nolet- Board Member

Mascoma Bank

14 Church Street Lebanon, NH 03766 v. (603) 448-4872 f. (603) 448-1829

119 North Main Street Boscawen, NH 03303 v. (603) 753-8181 f. (603) 753-4422
www.Headrest.org
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Cameron Ford

EDUCATION

B.S. degree; OrganizatioDal Management, Daniel Webster College, Nashua, NH
Certificate, Human Services, NH Technical College, Manchester, NH

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE

j^ril 2017- Present
Executive Director, Headrest Inc.

Headrest is a non-proflt community organization focusing on addiction and crisis
assistance since 1971. Services include 24 hour Hotline, Outpatient Gotmseling, a
Transitional Living program, and Outreach and Community Education.

I provide leadership and direction as the senior executive to. the organization. Responsible
formonitoring the quality and effectiveness of the agency programs and services, and
provide effective leadership in the operations ofthe organization Serve as a liaisonfor the
agency within the community. Re^onsiblefor the overall financial health of the
organization. Maintain oversight and compliance with state, federal and grantfunding.
Collaborate with other agencies to provide efficient services.
August 2015 to Present-
Founder, CEO Iron Heart Gateways to Success
Iron Heart is a non-profit dedicated to helping Veterans andpeoplefacing barriers to
employmentfind and maintain living wagejobs with sustainability opportunities. As co-
founder of this organization, lam committed to every individual that comes through the
door to help them make life changing choices regarding employment, financial literacy
and education.

February 2014 to June 2015-
Executive Director, Granite Pathways
Granite Pailatxiys is a peer-support, self-help coTTummity that provides hope anddignity to adults
with mental illness. The mission of Granite PaOnoays is to empoioer and support adults zoith
mental illness to pursue their personal goals through education, employment, stable housing,
reiparding addevements, and meaningful relationships. It does that hyfolUnoing tiie certification
standards of the Intenuitionat Center for Clubhouse Development (ICCD,), zohich define an
evidence-based model ofrehabilitation, that achieves superior employment and recovery outcomes.

•  Responsiblefor the overall management of the organization including staffdevelopment,
strategic phmning, fiscal tmmagemeni, and growth.

• Maintain sfalieholder relationships, Establish, developed, and maintained
collaborative relationships withfoundations andfunding sources
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•  Incmised membership at the dttbhoiise by 40%
•  Increased number ofemployed members by 60%
•  Compleied training at an ICCD certified traming Center {Genesis, Worcester hAass.)

February 2004 to March 2013-
Executive Directort MY TURN Inc.
The MY TURNprogram provides services to approximately 800 students per year through
both in school and out of school programs. The programs provide educational
advancement opportmities, dropoutprevention, and include services such as community
service learning tutoring and study skills, employment skills training mentoring college
preparation, leadership, and guidance and counseling. The majority offunding for the
organization is through WIA funds in partnership with local worlforce boards. My
position initially covered the NH region until I was promoted in 2011 to manage the entire
organization.

I

• Administered and oversaw the growth andfiscal management and operations ofthe
MYTURN Organization in New Hampshire and Massachusetts. Responsibilities
included Board Development, Strategic planning fitndraising and program
development. Position reported to the CEO.

• Established, developed, and maintained collaborative relationships with
foundations, workforce boards and funding sources, and high demand labor market
industries.

^ • Successfully expanded the marketing of the program to and created partnerships
with schoolsi community colleges, Chambers of Commerce, local civic
organizations, state vision teams and economic development groups. ^

• Explored and developed sustainable avenues for funding and for the growth and
continuous improvement of the MY TURN programs through financial
collaborations with schools and higher education 'entitles, grant writing, and
responding to RFF's

• Managed and motivated 18-20 staff throughout the region including all aspects of
human resources.

• Responsible for Regional Board Development, Strategic planning fundraising and
program development. Position reports to the CEO.

Get 1994-Apra 2004-
Work Opportunities Unlimited Inc., Director of Youth Development

• Oversaw the operation of the Youth Career Program for adjudicated youth thai
included peer and family groups, careerfocused jobsfor youth, adventure-based
activities such as hikes, camping trips, deep-seafishing and experiential based
group activities. This program was hiffhly regarded in New England as an
alternative to placement for adjudicated youth. During my leadership, this program
averaged a 9% recidivism rate.

• Created and established new state marketing to funding sources and industry,
development and implementation ofthe Youth Career Program that assisted O
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adjudicated and at risk youth in Workforce Development and youth development
actMties. Trained new directors and staff. Contributed to the strategic plan
process for growth of the youth programs within the organization and developed
stratc^es for expansion into new states. During my leadership, this program
received recognition as a Promising Effective Practices Programfrom the National
Youth Employment Coalition in Washington DC

Responsiblefor the management of five offices in N.H. and the supervision of as
many as 18 staff. Directly involved in hiring of steff training and support, and
program growth. Developed and consistently exceededyearly program recruiting
operational andfinancial goals through a strategic planningprocess.

March mi-Oct 1994-

Work Opportunities Unlintited Inc. Concord N,H Employment Representative

• Responsible for job development activities for youth and adults with disabilities.
Worked with Counselorsfrom Vocational Rehabilitation, Area Agencie.^ and local
schools. Carried a caseload of 45 clients that included adults and youth from'
schools and the Youth Development Center. Maintained an 80% .success rate for
placements. ■

Volunteer Associations'

• Co-Chair, Manchester Continuum of Care
• Past Board Chair, Girls at Work, Non-Profit Organization that engages girls in

non-traditional work experiences, with emphasis on the constructionfield
• Queen City Rotary Club
• Board of Directors, Helping Hands, Manchester NH

Achievemenls/Awards-

• St. Anselm College Presidents' Community Partner Award
•  "EntreprenewshiplOIAward" National Consortium for Entrepreneurship

Education

• National Youth Employment Coalition's New Leaders Academy Class of2000,
Certifications'
• National Foundation for Teaching Entrepreneurship
• CESP, Nationally Certified Supported Employment Support Professional
• Clubhouse Administrative Training Certification. 2015, Genesis, Worcester Mass.

References- Available upon request

<^8
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David G. Belanger, Jr.

LICENSURE AND EDUCATION:

•  NH Master Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor, license # 0948

•  M..A. in Clinical Mental Health Counseling, Union Institute and University, Cincinnati, OH
December 2007

•  B.A in Psychology, Southern New Hampshire University, Manchester, NH December 2003,

3.8 CPA

•  A.A. in Liberal Studies, Hesser College. Manchester, NH January 1999. 3.8 CPA

WORK EXPERIENCE:

HEADREST

Lebanon, NH

Director of Clinical Operations

FARNUM CENTER OUTPATIENT SERVICES

Manchester, NH

Director Of Outpatient Services January 2021 to May 2022

Work includes: Oversight of Outpatient Counseling and Medication Assisted Treatment Programs.
Supervision of 6 outpatient counseling staff, one medication assisted treatment program staff, and one front
office staff. Providing supervision to staff pursuing Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor or Master
Licensed Alcohol & Drug Counselor licensure. Reviewing and signing off on all outpatient program
progress notes, assessments, and treatment plans prior to their being posted for billing.

Working with Vice President of Clinical Services to insure proper compliance with agency, state, and
federal guidelines. Working with staff from billing, utilization, and medical departments to insure
compliance and cooperation between these departments. Designing evidence based Intensive Outpatient
and Partial Hospitalization programs. Interviewing and hiring staff as needed. Running staff meetings.
Monitoring the physical plant of building where outpatient services are conducted

Outpatient Substance Abuse Counselor duties, as needed; outlined below.

Outpatient Substance Abuse Counselor June 2019 to Januar>' 2021

Work includes: Completing face to face level of care assessments, providing individual and group
counseling (group treatment modalities include Intensive Outpatient, Partial Hospitalization, Resiliency in
Recover)', and Impaired Driver Intervention Aftercare) to clients with co-occurring substance abuse and
mental health disorders, utilizing Three Principles, cognitive behavioral, and motivational interviewing
based methods; writing progress notes & discharge summaries, designing treatment plans based on goals
agreed upon with clients, providing individual Impaired Driver Intervention Aftercare counseling,
providing supervision to staff pursuing Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor or Master Licensed Alcohol
& Drug Counselor licensure, reviewing and signing off on all outpatient program progress notes prior to
their being posted for billing.

GRAFTON COUNTY ALTERNATIVE SENTENCING PROGRAMS

North Haverhill, NH August 2015 to June 2019

Therapist
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Work included: assessment of candidates for Grafton County Adult Diversion Program, treatment of Adult
Diversion participants with co-occurring substance abuse and mental health disorders; also provided these
services to Grafton County Drug Treatment Court participants from August 2015 to December 2018; r
utilizing cognitive behavioral, motivational interviewing, and dialectical behavioral therapy methods,
writing progress notes & discharge summaries, designing treatment plans based on goals agreed upon with
clients, and facilitating intensive outpatient and aftercare group therapy sessions, participating in weekly
multi-disciplinary team meetings, serving as liaison to other treatment providers

HEADREST, INC.

Lebanon, NH April 2014 to August 2015

Outpatient Substance Abuse Counselor

Work included:-assessment and treatment of individuals with co-occurring substance abuse and mental
health disorders; utilizing cognitive behavioral, motivational interviewing, and dialectical behavioral
therapy methods, writing progress notes, assessments, and discharge summaries, designing treatment plans
based on goals agreed upon with clients, and facilitating intensive outpatient and men's aftercare group
therapy sessions. Also providing on-call coverage for both Headrest crisis hotline

VALLEY VISTA

Bradford, VT November 2013 to April 2014

Primary Therapist, Mcrt's Residential Substance Abuse Treatment Unit

Work included: assessment and treatment of individuals with co-occurring substance abuse and mental
health disorders; utilizing cognitive behavioral, motivational interviewing, and 12-Step Facilitation
methods; writing progress notes, assessments, and discharge summaries; designing treatment plans based
on goals agreed upon with clients; facilitating psycho-educational and process group therapy sessions,
working with health insurance copies to establish a length of stay appropriate for client's needs, and
working as part of a multi-dimensional team (clinical, medical, and psychiatric) to provide the best level of
care for clients.

HEADREST, INC.

Lebanon, NH January 2007 to November 2013

Outpatient Substance Abuse Counselor May 2008 to November 2013

Work included: assessment and treatment of individuals with co-occurring substance abuse and mental
health disorders; utilizing cognitive behavioral, motivational interviewing, and dialectical behavioral
therapy methods, writing progress notes, assessments, and discharge summaries, designing treatment plans
based on goals agreed upon with clients, and facilitating intensive outpatient and dialectical behavioral
group therapy sessions. Also providing on-call coverage for both Headrest crisis hotline and Headrest
Dialectical Behavioral Therapy program, at least once per month.

•  Performing same duties with individuals incarcerated at the Grafton County House of Corrections
(16 hours per week, since May 2008), in the Grafton County Drug Court Sentencing Program, and
in the Grafton County Electronic Monitoring Program.

Hotline Coordinator January 2007 to May 2008

Work included: oversight of 24-hour crisis hotline; answering crisis calls, supervision of 9 stalTmembers,
insuring hotline is in compliance with American Association of Suicidology guidelines, serving on Quality
Assurance Board, working with business manager on budgeting and marketing, coordination of services
with other facilities, and conducting trainings. Other duties include on-call coverage, staff scheduling, and
doing screenings for residential and outpatient counseling programs.

•  Also completed 1500 hour counseling internship, required by graduate school program

DEVELOPMENTAL SERVICES OF SULLIVAN COUNTY

Claremont, NH June 2004 to Dec 2006
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Community Services Coordinator, Brookshire Group Home

Work included: oversight of day and residential program for 3 deveiopmentally disabled individuals;
supervision and training of 15 staff members; and design and implementation of service plans with family
service coordinators, psychologists, and legal guardians. Other duties include behavioral intervention, staff
scheduling, writing monthly and annual progress reports, overseeing clients' medical care, working with
agency nurse trainer to insure proper medication administration procedures are followed, insuring residence
functions with state certification guidelines, on-call crisis coverage (for both the residence and agency),
mentoring new coordinators, and interviewing, hiring, and training new staff.

LICENSURE AND CERTIFICATIONS:

•  Master Licensed Alcohol and Drug Counselor, license # 0948

•  Dialectical Behavioral Therapy Certification, December 2011. Completed 80 hours of training
provided by Behavioral Tech LLC. Certified to provide Dialectical Behavioral Therapy in both

'  individual and group settings. Certification also entail competency to train other staff in
Dialectical Behavioral Therapy. Designed and implemented Headrest's Dialectical Behavioral
Therapy program with other members (3) of Dialectical Behavioral Therapy team. Currently
providing individual and group treatment to Dialectical Behavioral Therapy program participants.

•  Have attended and completed trainings on topics such as Personality Disorders; treating Bipojar
Disorder; treating Eating Disorders. Seeking Safet>', helping National Guard Members and their
families cope before, during, and after a deployment; and other trainings required by the State of
New Hampshire.

•  Attended Annual Conference on Psychological Trauma: Neuroscience. Attachment, and
Therapeutic Interventions, sponsored by The Meadows. Boston, MA. June 15-June 17, 2006 (21
continuing education hours). Attended workshops on acute intervention with victims of war and
terrorism, neuropsychological assessment of traumatized adults and children, and interventions
with victims.of human trafficking.

•  Also knowledgeable in American Sign Language

References available upon request.
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MARCY COUGHLIN

Looking for a permanent position utilizing my varied healthcare background and skills.

EXPERIENCE

02/2022 TO PRESENT

BUSINESS OFFICE MANAGER, HEADREST

05/2020 TO 02/2022

INFORMATION SYSTEMS COORDINATOR, NH NEUROSPINE INSTITUTE

Organized and implemented complete filing system that needed to be purged and updated.

Manage support cases with third-party EHR vendor and regular follow-up. Assist with internal IT

support tickets, monthly reports, onboarding and training staff and many other various duties.

01/2014-TO 05/2020

UR SPECIALIST/SYSTEM ADMINISTATOR, FARNUM CENTER

Gather and report all clinical data necessary for prior authorizations with very high success rates.
Track and manage all EHR user accounts, security and licenses. Developed and implemented

internal auditing system for clinical records and improved compliance rate to 99%. Verify and
document insurance benefits prior to all appointments and coordinate benefits as needed to
ensure payment of claims.

07/2011-TO 07/2014

CUSTOMER SERVICE/CASH OFFICE/DEPARTMENT MANAGER, KOHL'S

Assisted with customer transactions and resolution of any issues with merchandise and
appropriate resolution follow-up. Maintained opening cash procedures and balancing activities
for closing. Promoted to supervisor and managed Intimate & Accessory Department.

11/2009-TO 6/2011

ADMINISTRATIVE/OFFICE STAFF, WEBSTER PLACE RECOVERY CENTER

Collected and recorded all financial transactions and provided documentation for upper

management staff. Organized events and outings for the clients. Maintained office supplies and

assisted clients with various needs.

8/2005 TO 6/2007

DATA ENTRY/CLERICAL SPECIALIST, SSIMED CORPORATION

Data entry of ICD-9 and CPT codes from office visit documentation for claim submission.

Managed EOB's and submitted to all Secondary and Tertiary payers for payment.

12/1998 TO 3/2005

DATA ENTRY/CLAIMS SPECIALIST/ELIGIBILITY, DATAPREP, INC
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Data entry of claims with speed and accuracy earning weekly cash bonus. Maintained and

updated Cigna database until outsourced in 2005.

EDUCATION

2009

MEDICAL BILLING & CODING, SALTER COLLEGE

College credit courses completed with GPA 3.57. AAPC certified - not renewed

2019

HEALTHCARE ADMINISTRATION WITH INFORMATION MANAGEMENT,

SOUTHERN NEW HAMPSHIRE UNIVERSITY

Currently maintaining GPA 3.909 and slated to graduate in 2022.

SKILLS

•  Ability to identify process deficiencies and find • Detail Oriented

solutions for better efficiency. • Organized

•  Ability to find a solution-based answers that • Team Oriented

resolve issues.

ACllVI'I'IES

I have a varied background in healthcare that could lend itself to a range of positions. Detail oriented

and independent, but also a team player to assist wherever my skills can contribute.



DocuSIgn Envelope ID; D1E3E5FC-5FC7^E27-9108-3C7FB021CD66

ALBERT CARBONNEAU

EXPERIENCE

FEBRUARY 2020 - PRESENT

HEADREST

HOUINE MANAGER
PARTICIPATE IN INTERVIEWING ANDHIRING APPROPRIATE HOTUNECOUNSEUDRS,TRAIN NEW

HOTLINE STAFF, PROVIDESTAFF EVALUATIONS, MANAGESCHEDULE, REVIEWCALLLOGS AND
PROVIDE FEEDBACK, MANAGE ICARROLDATABASE, PROVIDE REPORTS AS NECESSARY,
FACILITATE MONTHLY STAFF MEETINGS, PARTICIPATEIN MANAGEMENTMEETINGS, PROVIDE
ON-CAaSUPPORT, WORK WITHIN ASSIGNED HOTLINE BUDGET, OUTREACH INTO THE HOTUNE
CATCHMENTAREA

I

JUNE 2010-PRESENT

UPPER VALLEY HAVEN

SHELTER STAFF, SHELTER TEAM LEADER, PROGRAM ASSOCIATE/ RECOVERY
SUPPORT

Tasks included working on meetlngshelterguest'sdaytoday needs. Doing house laundry,
making meals when necessary. Keeping notes, enterihgdata, sorting mall, providing
transportation when necessarY- Attending shelter staff meetings.
Oversee Family and Adult Shelters. AsslstShelterstaff with their jobs. Maintain shelterstaff
schedule. Fill in shifts when necessary. Facilitate shelterstaff meetings. Submittlngsupplyorders.
Oversaw operation of Seasonal Shelter. Transport and advocate for guests, help In food shelf,
deliverfoodto outside programs. Support guests struggling with recovery.

JUNE 2002 - MARCH 2014, MAY 2016 - PRESENT
HEADREST

RESIDENTIAL MANAGER, RECOVERY ASSISTANT, HOTLINE COUNSELOR
Oversee Residential program. Facilitate groups, transport clients, observe medications. One on
One counseling. Oversee staff. Maintain schedule. Minor maintenance repairs. Write daily notes
for individual as well as group. Enter data Into multiple databases. Answercalls on the National
Suicide Prevention Hotline, make appropriate referrals, Notify and work with 911 for emergency
interventions as needed.

EDUCATION

:  JUNE 1981
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JONOTHAN LAW HIGH SCHOOL

SKILLS

•  Great working with people. Have a calm
demeanor. Knowledgeable about
homelessness.

•  Reliable, dependable, hardworking, punctual,
organized.

ACTIVITIES

Trainings include; Motivattona! Interviewing, CBT, DBT, Recoverv Coach, Ethics, Trauma informed
practices, Bridges out of Poverty, 12 Core Functions, MAT, De-escalation techniques. Relapse
prevention. Trained on HMiSServlce Point, NH WITS programs, ICarroll
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CONTRACTOR NAME

Key Personnel

Name Job Title Salary % Paid from

this Contract

Amount Paid from

this Contract

Cameron Ford Executive Director $90,000 10% $9,000

Dave Belanger Clinical Operations Director $87,500 15% $13,125

Marcy Coughlin Business/Office Manager $67,000 15% $10,050

A) Carbonneau Hotline Manager $62,000 100% $62,000

Total $94,175
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L«ri A. Shiblnctie

Commissioner

Katja S. Fox
Director

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION FOR BEHA VIORAL HEAL TH

129 PLEASANT STREET, CONCORD, NH 03301
003-27I-9544 i-800-8S2.3345 Cat 9544

Fax; 603>27M332 TOD Access: I•800>73S>2964 wmv.dhhs.nh.gov

Aprils, 2021

His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord. New Hampshire 03301
REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health, to enter
into a sole source amendment to an existing contract with Headrest {VC# 175226-R001), Lebanon, NH
for suicide hotline prevention services, by exercising a contract renewal option by increasing the price
limitation by $400,000 from $400,000 to $800,000 and by extending the completion date from June 30.
2021 to June 30. 2023 effective upon Governor and Council approval. 100% General Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on January 22, 2020, item #14.

Funds are anticipated to be available in the following account for State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023,
with the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state
fiscal years through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.

05-95-92-922010-41170000 Health & Soclat Services, Department of Health & Human Services, HHS:
Behavioral Health, Olv of, Bureau of Mental Health Services, CMH Program Support.

State

Fiscal

' Year

Class/

Account
Class TItlie

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decrease
d) Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 100-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc
92204117

$200,000 $0 $200,000

2021 100-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc
92204117

$200,000 $0 $200,000

2022 100-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc
92204117

$0 $200,000 $200,000

2023 100-500731
Contracts for

Prog Svc
92204117

$0 $200,000 $200,000

Total $$400,000 $400,000 $800,000

EXPLANATION

This request is sole source because a prior action was approved as sole source and MOP 150
requires any subsequent amendments to be labeled as sole source.

The purpose of this request is to extend the current contract by two years for the provision of suicide
hotline services that offer free and confidential emotional support to people in a suicidal crisis or emotional
distress twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week. The Contractor provides callers with
information and referrals to community services and health care providers as indicated by the callers'

The Oepartment of Hcollh and Human Services' Mission is to Join communities and families
in providing opportunities for cituens to achieve health and independence.
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His Exoeilenqf, GoMmor Chrtstopher T. Sununu
' and the Honorabia Councfl

Peoa2 6f2

needs. This action also adds a provision requiring the contractor to establish a reaMlme connection to
allow for the d^ect transfer of calls to the Department's Behavioral Health Crisis Response System.

.  The Contractor receives cads nationwide, but the callers are primarily individuals located in New
Hampshire.

Approximately 15,000 callers will be sen/ed from July 1. 2021 to June 30,2023.

The Contractor is New Hampshire's only call center accredited through the National Suicide
Prevention Lifeline. They receive calls from individuals in New Hampshire (and a small number from other
states) who either are experiencing thoughts of suicide themselves, or are calling about a loved one who
may be at risk for suicide. The Contractor's trained staff provide callers with Information and referral
services, personal support, crisis intenrention and. suicide intervention. When necessary, the Contractor
collaborates with the Department's proposed behavioral health crisis response access point contractor to
dispatch mobile crisis response teams.

The National Suicide Prevention Lifeline uses one telephone rtumber nationwide, and ensures
services designed to prevent suicide are available to all New Hampshire residents. The Contractor will link
individuals at risk of suicide to services available statewide, and provides education about suicide to
individuals and families statevride.

The Department will monitor the effectiveness of the Contractor and the delivery of services
required under this contract using the following performance measures:

•  Percentage of calls answered In New Hampshire rather than re-routed to an out of state can
center, compared to the previous year.

•  Increase In number of follow-ups and communication with callers post-crisis.

•  Increase in quantity community outreach and education efforts.

As referenced in the Exhibit C-1, Revisions to Standard Contract Language, Section 2, Renewal,
subsection 2.1 of this contract, the parties have the option to extend contract services for up to two (2)
additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the
parties end approval of the Govemor and Executive Council. The Department Is requesting approval to
exercise both of the two (2) remaining years of renewal

Should the Govemor and Executive Council not authorize this request, Individuals who are at risk
for suicide will not have a telephone lifelir>e available as a resource, and will lose critical intervention
support service. Recent research ahov/s that for every completed suicide, there are 135 people Impacted
by the death. The ramiricatlons of even one additional suicide are great. In addition. New Hampshire would
no longer have access to a nationally recognized number that links callers to critical services that are
specially designed to prevent suicide.

Area served: Statewide

Respectfully submitted,

Lorl A. Shiblnette

Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Ameridment #1

This Amendment to the Suicide Hotline Services contract is by and between the State of New Hampshire,
Department of Health and Human Services ("State* or "Department") and Headrest ("the Contractor").
WHEREAS pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on January 22. 2020. (Item 14) the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms
and conditions specified In the Contract, and In consideration of certain sums specified: and
WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 18, and Exhibit C-1, Revisions to
Standard Contract Language, Section 2. Renewal, Subsection 2.1, the Contract may be amended upon
written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and
WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreertient. increase the price lirriltation, and
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and
NOW THEREFORE, In consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37 General Prpylsions, Block 1.7, Completion Date, to read:

June 30. 2023.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions. Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$800,000.

3. Exhibit A, Scope of Services, Section 2. Scope of Work by adding Subsection 2.19 to read:
2.19 The Contractor shall enter into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with the

Department's Behavioral Health Crisis Response System contractor to establish a
reaLtlme connection to allow for the direct transfer of calls.. ,

4. Add Exhibit B-3 Budget, which Is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

5. Add Exhibit B-4 Budget, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

SS-2020-DBH-05-SUICI-A01 Hoadrest Contractor Initials Ci F
A-S-l .0 Page 1 of 3 Date
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AH terms and conditions of the Contract not modified by this Amendment remain in full force and effect.
This Amendment shall be upon the date of Govemor and Executive Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

4/16/2021

Date

OpeoSowtr:

ja FOX

Title: Director

Headrest

4/15/2021

Date

-Oe(iiSlgn«4 by:

^^eSeronFora

Title: Executive Director

SS-2020-D8H-05-SUiCI-A01

A-S-1.0

Headrest

Page 2 of 3
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

OeevSigrwd bjr.

4/16/2021

Date

Title; Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

SS-2020.DBH-05.SUICI-A01 Headrest

A-S-1.0 Page 3 of 3
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S(«dMHe*<*S«rrtcw Exhibit B-3

Budget

H0m Hwnp*Mr« 0«parun«n of Healtii and Htanan S«vic«s
C«Mtr*eter lunw

tor S.*W» HeUm Swi4e»e

Mr >. nil iMugn JMM ». nu

Fiidad try OHHS coogact '
Una Item

1 ■ Total Selart<WeQee

2. Emolo^aa 6enefta

Total Ptogfim CcaT
Diraet Indireci Total

isa.14100
23^7 J3

67.771.06 22S.B14.06
?3.»7.93

Contractor Share / Match

Db^aci Indirect ToS"
67.771.06 67.771.06

Direct

1S6.143.00

23.307.63

Total

1S6.143.00

23.307.63

3. CorouBarta

Etnaptnam:
Rertd

Repair oral *iWr<enance

656.1S dse.is BS6.1S .15

PurchaaaPetaectation

S. Sccpa^
Educational 37S.OO 375.00 375.00 375.00

Office

6. Travel

436.00 438.00

soo.oo soo.oo

436.00

soo.oo

436.00

SOO.OO

7. Occupancy 4,601.11 4.601.11 4.601.11 4.601.11

6. Cutrete Expensea

Tdetihone

Poaiaoe

SuOaoiptiorts

1.434JO 1.434JO 1.434.50 1.434.SO

AuOi andLaoal

Inataance

Board E»oenaea
9. Software
10. MattednolConwaricatiortt

4.7S9.2S 4.756.25
4.620.00

2.SOO.OO 2.500.00

3.147.54

600.00 600.00 600.00 600.00

4.662.60 4.662.60

2.256.25
1.772.46

4.662.60

1,772.46

4.662.60
1,550.00

II. Sag Education and Trartng

12. SubccreraeB/Aqrtcfi wxo

1.S5aU» _L560.00 1JS0.0O

13. Other(«oedfcdetat«mandaterv|:

T

TOTAL 185.410.43 5 66.e08.17
JTRT

274616.60 IT 600.00 73.418.60 74.018.60 184.810.43 15.189.57 2OOJO0.0O

Ineuwl » Pt«»nl el Ofcvf

SS-2C3»OeK4»4UCbAei

ElMtaBO

PiD* lal 1
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Budget

New HmmpsNr* Ocpertmeni o( Heatth antf Hwnan Serrtcea
Cosraoar mrm HmMmi

BMOg«> Paiwr. Mr t. nZ2 Omo^ Mw M. M2]

f undad by DHK^ conoact th»/a

Uneitam

Totai Progratn ̂ oal
Oiract Total

Conuacior Shara/ Match

Olract Indirect ToU! Olrect

$  ts».u15o
Total

1, Total SalarrfWaoea t».i43.00 60.804.19 CT7.947.19 69.804.19 S 80.804.19 1Sa.143.00

2. Engigtee eartafta 23.307.93 23J07.93 23.307.93 23J07.93

3. CcnstAaru

EqtapmanC

Rerul

Reoeir and aWrtenanca

9S«.1S 958.1$ 9$a.1$ 958.15

Purehaso'OetxetJaB^
S. ScccHas:

Eduestione' 375.CO 375.00 375.00 37500

PtwrmecT.

OQce 438.00 438.00 438.00 43800

8 Travd 500.00 500.00 500-00

4.801.11

500.00

OcctjanCT 4.601.11 4.601.11 4,001.11

8 CtfTwt Expcrgea

Tdeohwe 1.434.50 t:434.50 1.434.50 1.434JO

Postaoa

Scbacrtptiora
2.259,25Audi and Leoat 4>34.^ 4J34.25 2.575.00 2,575.00 2.259.25

5.014.43 5.014.43 3.241,97 1.772.48 1.772.48

BwdE»erBe

9. Sohwera 816.00 81800 818.00

10. MadetinoCcmnajracettona 4.862.60 4^82.60 4.662.60 4.682.60

II. Stad Edtiofllon and TfaWno" 1.550.00 1J50,00 IJ60.00 1.550.00

12. Suboortfaeta/AqreemenB

13. Otfic (aoeciOc deiafa mandatory):

TOTAL 185,428.43 90J10.73
«9.M

278239.16 618.00 75.621.18 76.23818 164.610.43 18199.57 200.000.00

Mlr>« A> A P*f«Ma s< Otr*«l

ss>;oifroeH«6^iCM«i
&4«il»-4

Ate* t a< t
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JAN08'20 ftMl0^2B DfiS

Kcrin A. Roufldi

Ac(iR( Comminioacr

Fox

Dirccior

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION FOR BEHA VIORAL HEALTH

IJ9 PLEASANT STRtrr. CONCORD. NH 03301

603-27I.9S44 l^a^S20345 Cxt 9S44

Fas: 603>Z7M332 TOD Accus; l«800-735-2964 Mrww.dhhs.nK.gov

January 7, 2020

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

. Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division for Behavioral Health, to enter
into a retroactive, sole source agreement with Headrest, (Vendor # 175226-R001), 14 Church Street,
Lebanon, NH, 03766. to provide suicide hotline prevention services. Iri an amount not to exceed
$400,000, effective retroactive to July 1. 2019 upon Governor and Executive Council approval through
June 30,2021. 100% General Funds.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Years,2020 and 2021, with authority
to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and adjust encumbrances between Stale Fiscal
Years through the Budget'Office if needed and justified.

05-95-92-922010-41170000 Health & Social Services, Department of Health & Human Services,
HHS: Behavioral Health, Div of, Bureau of Mental Health Services, CMH Program Support.

State Fiscal Year Class/Account Class Title Total Amount

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc $200,000

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc $200,000

Total $400,000

EXPLANATION

This request is retroactive because the funding for these services,, which began July -1, 2019,
was unavailable due to the continuing resolution. Funds t>ecdme available on September 26, 2019 after
the Governor signed the State Fiscal Year 2020-2021 operating budget into law.

This request Is sole source because House Bill 3, of the 2019 New Hampshire Regular
Legislative Session, appropriates $200,000 to the Department each State Fiscal Year and requires it to
fund a New Hampshire-based, nationally accredited suicide hotline service. Headrest is the only agency
in New Hampshire with this accreditation.

The purpose of this request is for Headrest to provide suicide hotline services that offer free and
confidential emotional support to people in a suicidal crisis or emotional distress twenty-four (24) hours
per day. seven (7) days per week. Headrest will respond to callers primarily located in New Hampshire
and provide callers wnth information and referrals relating to community services.'

Each year, Headrest answers and" supports approximately 4,000 callers from New Hampshire
who are seeking support through the national suicide prevention lifeline. Therefore, the Department
anticipates approximately this many individuals will be served from July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020.
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His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and (he Horwreble Councfl

Page 2 of 2

Headrest is New Hampshire's only call center accredited through the National Suicide Prevention
Lifeline (NSPL). Headrest answers calls from individuals calling from New Hampshire (and a small
number from other states) who are either experiencing thoughts of suidde themselves, or are calling
about a loved one who may be at risk for suicide. Headrest's trained staff provide callers with information
and referral services, personal support, crisis intervention and suiode intervention. The ten community
mental health centers have twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week services to also

address these types of calls, but have different numbers and/or areas, of the state in which they cover.
The NSPL has one number, no matter where in the country the call is made, which makes is easier to
remember, serves individuals who are traveling through the state and also serves individuals who, for a
variety of reasons, may not want to call a community mental health center. This contract will ensure
services designed to prevent suicide are available to New Hampshire residents, link individuals at risk to.
services, and provide education to the local community, individuals and families.

The Department will monitor the effectiveness of the Contractor and the delivery of services
required under this contract using the following performance measures:

•  Increased proportion of calls answered in New Hampshire rather than re-routed to an out
of state call center compared to last year.

•  Increased number of follow-ups and communication with callers post crisis.compared to
last year.

•  Increased community outreach and education of this service compared to last year.

As referenced in the Exhibit C-1, Revisions to-Standard Contract Language of this contract, the
parties have the option to extend contract seA'ices for up to two (2) additional years, contingent upon
satisfactory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of the parties and approval of the Governor
and Executive Council.

Should the Governor and Executive Council not authorize this request, Individuals who are at risk
for suicide will not have the lifeline available as a resource and consequently, may follow through on their
thoughts to die. Recent research shows that for every completed suicide, there are 135 people impacted
by the death. The ramifications of even one additional suicide are great. New Hampshire would no
longer have access to a nationally recognized number that links callers to critical services that are
specially designed to prevent suicide.

Area served: Statewide

Source of Funds: 100% General Funds.

Respectfully suty^tted,

Kerrin A. Rounds

Acting Commissioner

77ie Dc/Mirtmciil of lleollh ond Humoit Scfuieet' Mission is lojoin contmnnities and families
in providing opporlunilies for citiuns to achieve health and independence.
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Subject: Suicide Hotline Scfvices ̂ SS-202Q.DBH-05.SU1CI-Q] \
FORM NUMBER P-37 (versioa 5/8/15)

Notice: This acrcemcm and all of its atuchmenu shall become public upon submission to Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any inrormation that is private, confideniio) or proprietary must
be clearly idcntiHed to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

AGREEMENT

The State of New Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutually agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

I. [DENTlFlCATtON.

I. I State Agency Name
NH Department of Health and Human Services

i .2 State Agency Address
129 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301-3857

1.3 Contractor Name

Headrest

1.4 Contractor Address

14 Church Street

Ubanon NH 03766

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

603-448-4872

1.6 Account Number

05-095-092-922010-41 170000-

102-500731

1.7 Corapleiioo Date

June 30, 2021

1.8 Price Limitation

S400,000

1.9 Contracting Officer for State Agency
Nathan D. White, Director

1.10 State Agency Telephone Number
603-271.963!

II Contractor Signature Name and Title of Contractor Signatory

^ 7^^
1.13 Acknowledgement: State of .County of

On ■ before the undersigned officer, personally appeared the person identified in block 1.12, or satisfactorily
proven to be the person whose name is signed in block 1.11, and acknowledged that s/hc executed this document in the capacity
'indicatedinblock 1.12.

1.13.1 Signature of Notary Public or Justice of the Peace

fSwH

ZAOHART J. MoOARRY, Notary Putne
MyComrtelonCiipfaaidtdy 30,2024

1.13.2 Name and Title of Notary or Justice of the Peace

l ie . KlAffta* ikM/1.  1. 15 y Name and Title of State Agency Signatory

Date: j(p^o^h J^/>y
fsiration. Division ofVcrsonncl (ifapplicable)1^16 Approval by the N.H. Dcpanmeni of Adminisiration, Division ofrcrsonnci (1/applicable)

By: Director, On:

1.17 Approval by the Attorney General (Form, Substance and Execution) fi/applicable)

By /JZ / _ /'/A'Ss
1.18 Approv^ b^hc Governor and Executive Council (ifapplicable)

By: On:

Page 1 of 4
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2. EMPLOYMENT OF CONTIUCTOIVSERVICES TO

BE PERFORMED. The Steie of New Hampshire, acting
through (he agency itlcntificd in block 1.1 ("State"), engages
contractor identified in block 1.3 ('^Contractor") to perform,
and the Contractor shall perform, the work or sale of goods, or
both, identified and more particularly described in the attached
EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference
("Services").

3. EFFECrrVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, and subject to the approval of the Covcroor and
Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire, if
applicable, this Agreement, and oil obligations of the parties
hcreunder, shall become efteciive on the date the Governor

and Executive Council approve this Agreement'as indicated in
block 1.18, imicss no such approval is required, in which case
the Agreement shall beconte efTeciive on the date the
Agreement is signed by the Slate Agency as shown in block
1.14 ("Effective Date").
3.2 If the Contractor cornmences the Services prior to the
Effective Date, all Services pcrfomied by the Contractor prior
to the EfTective Dale shall be performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event thai this Agreement does not
become cPfective. the Stale shall have no liability to the
Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to pay
the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must complete all Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, all obligations of the State hereunder, including,
without limitation, (he continuance of payments hcreunder, arc
contingent upon the availability and continued appropriation
of funds, and in no event shall the Sute be liable for any
payments hereunder in excess of such available appropriated
funds. In the event of a reduction or termination of

appropriated funds, Ihc State shall have the right to withhold
payment until such funds become available, ifcver, and shall
have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice of such termination. The State
shall not be required to transfer funds from arty other account
to tbe Account identified in block 1.6 in the event funds in that
Account are reduced or unavailable.

5. CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/

PAYMENT.

5.1 The contract price, method of payment, and terms of
payment are identified ond more particularly described in >
EXHIBIT B which is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the State of (he contract price shall be the
only and (he complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
performance hereof, and shall be the only and the complete
compensation to the Contractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.

Page 2

5.3 The Slate reserves the right to offset from any amounts
otherwise payable to the Coninctor under this Agreement '
those liquidated amounts required or permitted by N.H. RSA
80;7 through RSA 80:7<c or any other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement to the
contrary, and riotwithstanding unexpected circumstances, in
no event shall the total of all payments authorized, or actually
made hcreunder, exceed (he Price Limitation set forth in block

1.8.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS

AND REGULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOYMENT
OPPORTUNITY.

6.1 In connection with (he performance of the Services, the
Contractor shall comply with all statutes, laws, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which Impose any obligation or duty upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to, civil rights and equal opportunity
laws. This may include the requirement to utilize auxiliary
aids and services to etuure thai persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
communicate with, receive information fix>m, and convey
information to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright lasvs. .
6.2 During Che term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion, creed, age, sex,
handicap, sexual orientation, or narional origin and will lake
afrirmativc action to prevent such discrimiitation.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of (he
United Stales, the Contractor shall comply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opportunity"), as supplemented by the
regulations of the United States Departmeni of Labor (41
C.F.R. Pan 60). and with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as the State of New Hampshire or the United States issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
permit the State or United Stales access to any of the
Contractor's books, records and accounts for (he purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and (he covenants, terms and conditions ofthis Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor '
warrants that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform ihie Services, and shall be properly
licensed ond oiherwiseiaulhorizcd to do so under all applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless otherwise authorized in writing, during (he term of ̂
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall not hire,
and shall not permit any subcontractor or other peraon, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in a combined erfon to
perform the Services to hire, any person who is a Slate
employee or ofTicial, who is materially involved in the
procurcmcni, administration or performance of this
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Agreement. This provision shall survive termination of this
Agreement.

7.3 The Contracting OfTtcer specified in block 1.9. or his or
her successor, shall be the State's t^rcscntative. tn the event
of any dispute concerning the interpretation of this Agreement,
the Contracting OfTicer's decision shall be final for the State.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of the following acts or omissions of the
Contractor shall constitute an event of default hereunder

("Event ofOefauli"):
8.1.1 failure to perform the Services saiisfacibrily or on
schedule;
8.1.2 fotlure to submit any report required hereunder; and/or'
8.1.3 failure to perform any other covenant, term or condition
of this Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, the State
may take any one, or more, or all, of the following actions:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying (he Event
of Default and requiring it to be remedied within, in (he
absence of a greater or lesser specification of time, thirty (30)
days from the date of the notice; and if the Event ofDcfauli is
not timely remedied, terminate this Agreement, effective two
(2) days ofler giving the Contractor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
of Default and suspending all payments to be made under (his
Agreement and ordering that the portion of the contract price
which would otherwise accrue to the Contractor during the
period from the date of such notice until such time as (he Sute
determines that the Cootracior has cured the Event of Default

shall never be paid to the Contractor;
8.2.3 set off against any other obligations the State may owe to
the Contractor any danoages (he State sufTers by reason of any
Event of Default; and/or
8.2.4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any ofits
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITV/

PRESERVATION.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, (he word "data" shall mean all
information and things developed or obtained during the
performance of. or acquired or developed by reason of. this
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, reports,
files, formulae, surveys, niops, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial-reproductions, drawings, analyses,
graphic representations, computer programs, computer
printouts, notes, letters, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finished or unfinished.

9.2 All data and any property which has been received from
the Stale or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be returned to the State upon demand or upon
icrminaiion of this Agrcemcni for any reason.
9.3 Conndentiaiity ofdata shall be governed by N.H. RSA
chapter 91-A or other existing law. Disclosure ofdata
requires prior written approval of the Slate.
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10. TERMINATION. In the event of an early termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of the
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contracting
OfTicer, not later than fifteen (15) days afler the date of
termination, a report ("Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contract price earned, to
and including the date of termination. The form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of (he Termination
Report shall be identical to (hose of any Final Report
described in the attached EXHIBIT A.

n. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION.TO THE STATE. In
the performance of (his Agreement the Contractor is in all
respects an independent coniracior, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State. Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or members shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other cmolumcnis provided by (he State to its employees.

12. ASSiCNMENT/DELECATION/SUBCONTRACTS.

The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest In (his Agreement without (he prior written notice and
consent of the State. None of i)te Services shall be

subcontracted by the Conuactor without the prior written
notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. The C:ontracior shall defend,
indemnify and hold harmless the State, its officers and
employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by the
State, its olTicera and employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the Slate, its officers
and employees, by or on behalf of any person, on occount of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out oO the ocis or omissions of the
Contractor. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein
contained shod be deemed to constitute a waiver of the'

sovereign immunity of the State, which immunity is hereby
reserved to the State. This covenant in paragraph 13 shall
survive the terminaiioo of this Agreement.

14. INSURANCE.

14.1 The Contractor sholl. at its sole expense, obtain and
maintain in force, and shall require any subcontractor or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insurance:

14.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurorKc against all
claims of bodily injury, death or property damage, in amounts
of not less than SI .OOO.OODper occurrence and $2,000,000
aggregate; end
[4.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all
property subject lo subparagraph 9.2 herein, in an amount not
less than 80V* of the whole replacement value of the property.
14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
Slate of New Hampshire by the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the Sute of New
Hampshire.
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14.3 The Contr&ctor shaH furnish to the Contracting Officer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a certiflcatefs)
of insurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Contractor shall also furnish to the Contracting OfTtcer
identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, cenincaie(s) of
InsuraiKe for all renewal(s) of insurance required under this
Agreement no later than thirty (30) days prior to the expiration
date of each of the insurance policies. The ccrtincatc(s) of
insurance and any rertewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each cenificaic(s) of
insurance shall contain a clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days pnor wrinen
notice of cancellation or modification of the policy.

15. WORKERS' COfVIPENSATION.

13. i By signing this ogrecmcni, the Contractor agrees,
certifies and warrants that the Contractor is in compliance with
Of exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A
C Workers' Compensation ").
15.2 To the extent the Contractor is subject to the
requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281-A. Contractor shall
maintain, and require any subcontractor or assignee 19 secure
and maintain, payment of Workers' Compensation in
connection with activities which the person proposes to
undertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proofof Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chapter 261'A and any
applicable renewBl(s) thereof, which shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contracior. or
any subcontractor or employee of Contractor, which mighi
arise under applicable State of New Hampshire Workers'
Compensation laws in connection with the perforruancc of the
Services under this Agreemeni.

16. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by the State to
enforce any provisions hcreofaflcr any Eveni of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights with regard 10 that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Default. No express
failure to enforce any Event of Dcfauli shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the Slate to enforce each and ell of the
provisions hereof upon any further or other Event of Default
on the pan of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a potty hereto to the other party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given ot the
lime of mailing by certified mail, postage prepaid, in a United
States Posi Office addressed to ihc panics at the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 and 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agrccmcni may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instrument in writing signed
by (he parties hereto and only after approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of (he State of New Hampshire unless no

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law, rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.

This Agreemeni shall be construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New Hampshire, and is binding upon and
inures to (he benefit of the parties and their respective
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
is the wording chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no rule of construction sholl be applied against or
in favor of any party.

20. THIRjD PARTIES. The parties hereto do noi intend to
berient any third parties and this Agreement shall not be
construed to confer any luch benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
are for reference purposes only, and the words contained
therein shall in no way be held to explain, modify, amplify or
aid in the interpretation, construction or meaniiigofihc
provisions of this Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the attached EXiilBlT C are incorporated herein by-
reference.

23. SEVERABILITY. In the event any of the provisions of
this Agreemeni are held by a court of competent jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law, ihe remaining
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
efTccl.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which rruy
be executed in a number of counterparts, eoch of which shall
be deemed an original, eonsiitulcs the entire Agreement and
understanding between the parties, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.

Page 4 of 4
Contractor Initials /*>

Date D <50



DocuSign Envelope ID; D1E3E5FC-5FC7-4E27-9108-3C7FB021CD68

DocuSign Envelope ID: 0l28E40B-BEA4-4e4F-dC33-4FCFD29ABA4E

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Suicide Hotline Services

Exhibit A

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor shall submit a detailed description of the language assistance
services they will provide to persons with limited English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of the
contract effective date.

1.2. The Contractor shall participate in a kick-off meeting with the Department within
10 days of the contract effective date to review contract timelines, scope, and
deliverables.

1.3. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future state or federal legislation or
court orders may have an impact on the Services described herein, the
Department has the righ! to modify Service priorities and expenditure
requirements under this Agreement so as to achieve compliance therewith.

1.4. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Department has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipient, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

2. Scope of Work

*  2.1. The Contractor shall provide suicide hotline services twenty-four (24) hours per
day. seven (7) days per week to respond to callers primarily located in New
Hampshire to attempt to prevent threatened suicides, de-escalate crises, and
provide callers with information and referrals relating to community services.

2.2. The Contractor shall provide suicide hotline services in accordance with the
Contractor's Network Agreement with the Mental Health Association of New
York City, Inc. whereas the Contractor participates as a crisis intervention center
within the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline Network, funded through the
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA).

2.3. The Contractor shall maintain their Network Agreement in Section 2.2 above.

2.4. The Contractor shall maintain their national accreditalion as a suicide hotline
service and provide the Department with a copy of any renewal within five {5}
days said certification.

2.5. The Contractor shall ask the callers about suicidality and complete a suicide risk
assessment that incorporates the principles and subcomporients described in
the Network Agreement referenced in Section 2.2 above.

2.6. The Contractor shall engage callers and initiate all measures to secure the
safety of the callers for whom there is information that a suicide attempt has
already been made, or at Imminent risk of suicide using the practices of
engagement described in the Network Agreement.

2.7. The Contractor shall follow up with callers post crisis to ensure they are
connected to other services as applicable.

Hoadrest ExMWlA Conlracloc Initials
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2.8. The Contractor shall maintain written guidelines, policies, and procedures for
how staff shall respond to and assist callers determined by the Contractor to be
a danger to themselves or to others such as but not limited to:
2.6.1. How to conduct a lethality assessment of the applicable risk level;
2.6.2. Procedures applicable to the dispatch of rescue personnel, including,

without limitation, in those instances where a Caller refuses to
volunteer cooperation; and

2.8.3. Procedures applicable to follow-up with the Caller.
2.9. The Contractor shall answer calls within the National Suicide Prevention Lifeline

Networlt's limeframe standards of "six (6) rings" before the call is routed to an
out of state call center at least seventy percent (70%) of the time.

2.10. the Contractor shall not:
2.10.1. Utilize an answering service or cellular telephones to answer incoming

calls;

2.10.2. Utilize an automated attendant or any other system that requires a
caller to press a telephone key in order to be connected with Center
Staff;

2.10.3. Fonvard incoming calls to a third party; and
2.10.4. Allow calls to be answered by a receptionist or any Center Staff not

trained to assist Callers.

2.11. The Contractor shall maintain written guidelines, policies, and procedures for
how to refer callers to community services so that callers are given an
appropriate array of options with respect to treatment, care and/or follow-up;
options shall not be limited in any manner to organizations, facilities or providers
affiliated with or related to the Center.

2.12. The Contractor shall maintain a call log and document the information when the
caller provides such information as, including but not limited to:

2.12.1. Date, lime, and reason for the call;
2.12.2. Age. gender, ethnicity, race and zip code or location or residence of

caller;

2.12.3. What prompted the call:
2.12.4. Caller's mental health/substance abuse treatment history;
2.12.5. Caller's relationship to disaster (if any);
2.12.6. Number of referrals provided and where made the referrals to;
2.12.7. Whether the caller required emergency outreach services; and
2.12.8. To the extent applicable, the manner in which the caller learned of the

suicide prevention lifeline.
2.13. The Contractor shall ensure proper staffing at ail times.
2.14. The Contractor shall provide the Department with copies of their written policies

and procedures for providing the suicide hotline service, including but not limited
to:

2.14.1. Supervision and training requirements;
2.14.2. Code of ethics;
2.14.3. Grievance process; and

Eitfvbii A Conirectof InlUals ̂ J{Hoadfdst
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2.14.4. Quality Assurance and program evaluation.
2.15. The Contractor shall ensure that staff receive all necessary training (prior to their

responding to calls) in accordance with guidelines in Section 2.2.
2.16. The Contractor shall provide ongoing in-service training for staff at intervals

deemed sufficient for ensuring continuous quality service.
2.17. The Contractor shall collaborate with the Department and other providers,

including but not limited to Granite United Way, which operates 211 in New
Hampshire, to educate communities and provide online and printed information
and resources for statewide distribution.

2.18. The Contractor shall attend the State's Emergency Service meetings as
requested.

3. Reporting

3.1. JhQ Contractor shall report de-identified data outlined in Section 2.12 above on
a monthly basis.

3.2. The Contractor shall report monthly the following number of:
312.1. Calls received:
3.2.2. The number of follows up contacts by the Contractor with the caller

post crisis;
3.2.3. Referrals and the reasons for the referrals and for what type of service;
3.2.4. Answered calls locally in New Hampshire and the number of calls that

were re-routed to another out of state call center; and

3.2.5. Outreach and education efforts with a description of what was done
and results, if it can be determined. ,

3.3. The Contractor shall provide:
3.3.1. For each submission, a copy of the national suicide prevention report

for New Hampshire that is submitted to the National Suicide Prevention
Lifeline; and

3.3.2. A copy of the Accreditation certificate within 10 days of the effective
date of this contract. ^

4. Performance fVleasures

4.1. The Contractor's performance shall be measured by the:
4.1.1. Increased portion of calls answered in state rather than re-routed to an

out of state call center compared to last year;
4.1.2. Increased number of follow-ups and communiication with callers post

crisis compared to last year; and
4.1.3. Increased community outreach and education of this service compared

to last year.

5. Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity

5.1. In order to enable the Department to evaluate the Contractor's fiscal Integrity,
the Contractor agrees to submit to the Department monthly, the Balance Sheet.
Profit and Loss Statement, and Cash Flow Statement for the Contractor. The
Profit and Loss Statement shall include a budget column allowing for bud^to
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actual anaiysis. Statements shall be submitted within thirty (30) calendar days
after each month end. The Contractor shall be evaluated on the follov^ng:'
5.1.1. Days of Cash on Hand:

5.1.1.1. Oermition: The days of operating expenses that can be covered
by the unrestricted cash on hand.

5.1.1.2. Formula: Cash, cash equivalents and short term investments
divided by total operating expenditures, less
depreciation/amortization and in-kind plus principal payments on
debt divided by days in the reporting period. The short-term
investments as used above shall mature within three (3) months
and should not include common stock.

5.1.1.3. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall have enough cash
and. cash equivalents to cover expenditures for a minimum of
thirty (30) calendar days with no variance allowed.

5.1.2. Current Ratio:

5.1.2.1. Definition: A measure of the Contractor's total current assets

available to cover the cost of current liabilities.

5.1.2.2. Formula: Total current assets divided by total current liabilities.
5.1.2.3. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum current ratio of 1.5:1 with 10% variance allowed.

5.1.3. Debt Service Coverage Ratio:
5.1.3.1. Rationale: This ratio illustrates the Contractor's ability to cover

the cost of its current portion of its long-term debt.
5.1.3.2. Definition: The ratio of Net Income to the year to date debt

service.

5.1.3.3. Formula: Net Income plus Depreciation/Amorlization Expense
plus Interest Expense divided by year to date debt service
(principal and interest) over the next twelve (12) months.

5.1.3.4. Source of Data: The Contractor's Monthly Financial Statements
identifying current portion of long-term debt payments (principal
and interest).

5.1.3.5. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum standard of 1.2:1 with no variance allowed.

5.1.4. Net Assets to Total Assets:

5.1.4.1. Rationale: This ratio is an indication of the Contractor's ability to
cover its liabilities. ,

5.1.4.2. Definition: The ratio of the Contractor's net assets to total

assets.

5.1.4.3. Formula; Net assets (total assets less total liabilities) divided by
total assets.

5.1.4.4. Source of Data: The Contractor's Monthly Financial Statements.
5.1.4.5. Performance Standard: The Contractor shall maintain a

minimum ratio of .30:1, with a 20% variance allowed.
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5.2. In order to enable the Departmentto evaluate the Contractor's fiscal integrity,
the Contractor agrees to submit to the Department monthly, the Balance Sheet,
the Profit and Loss statement for the month and year-to-date for the agency
and the Profit and Loss statement for the month and year-to-date for the
program being funded with this contract.

5.3. In the event that the Contractor does not meet either:

5.3.1. The standard regarding Days of Cash on Hand and the standard
regarding Current Ratio for two (2) consecutive months; or

5.3.2. Three (3) or more of any of the Maintenance of Fiscal Integrity
standards for three (3) consecutive months, then

5.3.3. The Department may require that the Contractor meet with Department
staff to explain the reasons that the Contractor has not met the
standards.

5.3.4. The Department may require the Contractor to submit a
comprehensive corrective action plan within thirty (30) calendar days of
notification that 8.2.1 and/or 8.2.2 have not been met.

5.3.4.1. The Contractor shall update the corrective action plan at least
every thirty (30) calendar days until compliance is achieved.

5.3.4.2. The Contractor shall provide additional information to assure
continued access to services as requested by the Department.
The Contractor shall provide requested information in a
timeframe ag>:eed upon by both parties.

5.4. The Contractor shall inform the Department by phone and by email within
twenty-four (24) hours of when any key Contractor staff learn of any actual.or
likely litigation, investigation, complaint, claim, or transaction that may
reasonably be considered to have a material financial impact on and/or
materially impact or impair the ability of the Contractor, to perform under this
Agreement with the Department.

5.5. The monthly Balance Sheet, Profit & Loss Statement^ Cash Flow Statement,
and all other financial reports shall be based on the accrual method of
accounting and include the Contractor's total revenues and expenditures
whether or not generated by or resulting from funds provided pursuant to this
Agreement. These reports are due within thirty (30) calendar days after the end
of each month.
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Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The Stale shall pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed the Form P-37. Block 1.8,
Price Limitation for the services provided pursuant to Exhibit A. Scope of Services.

2. This Agreement is funded with State general funds.

2.1. The Contractor shall use the funding in accordance with Exhibit A. Scope of
Services. Sections 2.2.

3. Failure to meet the scope of services may jeopardize the funded Contractor's current
and/or future funding.

4. The Contractor may submit a one time invoice for expenses Incurred July 1. 2019
through the date Governor and Executive Council approve this Agreement. The invoice
must be submitted in accordance with the Department's instructions and as outline In
this Exhibit B, along with proof of actual expenditures.

5. Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

5.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
In the fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit B-1. Budget and Exhibit B-2. Budget.

5.2. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form provided by the State by the
twentieth. (20*^) working day of each month, which identifies and requests
reimbursement for authorized expenses incurred in the prior month.

5.3. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, signed, dated and returned
to the Department in order to initiate payment.

5.4. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt
of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the submitted invoice and if sufficient
funds are available.

6. The Contractor shall keep detailed records of their activities related to Department-
funded programs and services and have records available for Department review, as
requested.

7. The Contractor shall submit a profit and loss statement that coresponds to each monthly
Invoice.

8. The final invoice shall be due to the State no later than forty (40) days after the contract
completion date specified in Form P-37. General Provisions Block 1.7 Completion Date.
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9. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed
to Tanja.Godtfredsen@dhhs.nh.gov, or invoices may be mailed to;

Financial Administrator i

Department of Health and Human Services
Division for Behavioral Health

105 Pleasant Street

Concord, NH 03301

10. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required reports or documentation as
identified in Exhibit A. Scope of Services and in this Exhibit 8.

11. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that funding
under this agreement may be withheld, in whole or in part, in the event of non-
compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable to the services
provided, or if the said services or products have not been satisfactorily completed in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this agreement.

12. Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37, changes limited to
adjusting amounts between budget line items, related iterns, amendments of related
budget exhibits within the price limitation, and to adjusting encumbrances between
State Fiscal Years, may be made by vwitten agreement of both parties and may be
made without obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council.
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SPECIAL PRQVISIQMS

Contraclors Obligations: The Coniractor covenants and agrees that ail funds received by the Contractor
under the Contract shali be used only as payment to the Contractor for services provided to eligible
individuals and. in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Contractor hereby covenants and
agraes 88 follows:

1: Compliance with Federal and State Lawa: if the Contractor is permitted to determine the efigibiiity
of individuals such eligibility determination shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and
stale laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, poGcies and procedures.

2. Time and fManner of Determination: Eligibility determinations shall be made on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose and shall be made and remade ai such times as are prescribed by
the Department

3. Documentation: In addition to the determinaticn forms required by the Departmertt. the Contractor
Shan maintain a data fde on each recipient of sen/ices hereunder. which file shall include an
iriformation necessary to support an eligibility determination and such other Information as (he
Department requests. The Contractor shall fumish the Department with all forms and documentation
regarding eligibility determinations thai the Department may request or require.

4. Fair Hearings: The Coniractor understands that ell epplicanls for services hereunder, as well as
individuals declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing regardir>g that determination. The
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to ftll out
an applicaiion form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair
hearing in accordartce with Department regulations.

5. Gratuities or Klckbacka: The Contractor agrees that It is a breach of this Contract to accept or
make a payment, gratuity or offer of employment on behalf of the Contractor, any SutvContractor or
the Slate in order to Influence the performance of the Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The State may terminate this Contract and any sut>-contract or sut>-agreenienl if it is
determined that payments, gratuities or offers of employment of any kind were offered or received by
any offtcials. officers, employees or agents of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

/

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract or inany
other document, contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties
hereto, that no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for any services provided to any individual prior to the Effective Date of the Contract
and no payments shad be made for expenses incurred by the Contractor for any services provided
prior to the date on which the Individual applies for services or (except as otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the Individual is eligible for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: NotwithstarKling anything to the contrary contained in the Contract.nothing
herein contained shall be deemed to obligate or require ihe Department to purchase services
hereunder at a rate which reimburses the Contractor In excess of the Contractors costs, at a rate
which exceeds the amounts reasonable and necessary to assure the quality of such service, or at a
rale which exceeds the rate charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals or other third party
funders for such service. If at any time during the term of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expenditure Report hereunder. the Department shall determine that the Contractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse items of expense other than such costs.'or has received payment
in excess of such costs or in excess of such rates charged by the Contractor to ineligible individuals
or other third party funders. the Department may elect to:

7.1. Renegotiate.the rates for payment hereunder, in which event new rates shall be established;
7.2: Deduct from any future payment to the Coniractor the amount of any prior reimbursement In

excess of costs:

Exhibli C - Spuds' Provlslona Contrector InlUsb
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7.3. Demand repayment of the excess payment by the Contractor In which event failure to make
such repayment shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Contractor is
permitted to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Deparimen! to the Contractor for services
provided to any iridividual who is found by the Department to be ineligible for such services el -
any time durirtg the period of retention of records established herein.

RECORDS: MAINTENANCE. RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY:

8. Melntonanco of Rocords: In addition to the eligibility records specir»ed above, the Contractor
covenants and agrees to maintain the following records during the Contract Period:

8.1. Fiscal Records: books, records, documents and other data evidencing and reflecting all costs
and other expenses incurred by the Contractor In the performance of the Contract, and ell
Inc^e received or collected by the Contractor during the Contract Period, said records to be
maintained in accordance with accounting procedures and practices which sufficiently and
property reflect all such costs and expenses, and which are acceptable to the Department, and
to iiKlude, without limitation, all ledgers, books, records, and original avidertce of costs such as
purchase requisitions and orders, vouchers, requisitions formateriats. inventories, valuations of
in.kind contributions, labor time cards, payrolls, end other records requested or required by the
Department.

8.2. Statistical Records: Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
scrvl^ during the Contract Period, which records shall incfude all records of application and
eligibility (including all forms required to determine eligibility for each such recipient), records
regarding the provision of services and all Invoices submitted to the Department to obtain
payment for such services.

8.3. Medical Records: Where appropriate and es prescribed by the Oepartmenl regulations, the
Contractor shall retain medical records on each patient/recipient of services.

9. Audit: Contractor shall submit an annual audil to the Department within 60 days after the close of the
agency fiscal year. It is recommended that the report be prepared in accordance with the provision of
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, 'Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non
Profit Organizations' and the provisions of Standards for Audil of Governmental Organizations.
Programs, Activities and Functions. Issued by the US General Accounting Office (GAO standards) as
thay pertain to finenclal compliance audits.

\

9.1. Audit end Review: During the term of this Contract and the period for retention hereunder. the
Department, the United Slates Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their
designated representatives shall have access to all reports and records maintained pursuant to
the Contract for purposes of audit, examinalion. excerpts and transcripts.

9.2. Audit Liabilities: In addition to end not in any way in limitation of obligations of the Contract, It is
understood and agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any state
or federal audit exceptions and shall return to the Department, all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have been disallowed because of such an
exception.

10. Conflderitiallty of Records: All information, reports, arid records maintained hereunder or collected
In connection with the performance of the services and the Contract shall be confidential end shallnot
be disclosed by the Contractor, provided however, that pursuant to stale laws and the ragulations of
the Department regarding the use and disdosure of such Information, disclosure may be made to
public officials requiring such Information in connection with their official duties and for purposes
directly conrvected to the administration of the services and the Contract; and provided further, that
tha use or disclosure by any pa^ of any information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with the administration of the Department or the Contractor's responsibilities with
respect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on wrinen consent of the recipient, his
attorney or guardian.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the covenants end conditions contained In
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever.

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical; The Contractor agrees to submit the following reports at thefollowing
times if requested by the Department.
11.1. interim Financial Reports; Written interim financial reports containir>g a detailed descrtption of

all costs and non-allowable expenses incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report and
containing such other information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rate of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports shall be submitted on the form
designated by the Department or deemed satisfactory by the Department.

11.2. Final.Report: A final report shall be submitted within thirty (30) days after the end of the term
of this Contract. The Final Report shall be In a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary statement of progress toward goals and objectives stated in the Proposal
and other information required by the Department.

12. Completion of Services: Disallowance of Costs; Upon the purchase by the Department of the
maximum number of units provided for in (he Contract and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and all the obligations of the parties hereunder (except such obligations es,
by the terms of the Contract ara to be performed after the end of the term of this Contract and/or
survive the termination of the Contract) shall tarmlnate, provided however, that If, upon review ofthe
Final Expenditure Report the Department shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor aS'
costs hereunder the Department shall retain the right, at its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as ere disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credlta: All documents. noUcas, press releases, research reports and other materials prepared
during or resulting frorn the performance of the services of the Contract shall ir>dude IhefoDowtng
statement:

13.1. The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under a Contract with (he State
of New Hanipshlre, Department of Health and Human Services, with funds provided In part
by tha State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., the United Stales Department of Health and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval end Copyright Ownership: Ail materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purchased under the contract shall have prior approval from OHHS before printing, production,
distribution or use. The OHHS will retain copyright ownership for any and all original materiels
produced, including, but not limited to, brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the contract without
prior written approval from OHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Regulaliona: in the operation of any facilities
for providing services, the Contractor shall comply with all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state, county and municipal authorities and with any direction of any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or duly upon the contractor vrith r^pect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shaD be required for (he operation of the said facility or the performance of (he said services,
the Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply vrilh the terms and
conditions of each such license or permit. In connection with the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that, during (he term of this Contract the facilities shall
comply with ail rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of the Fire Marshaland
the local fire protection agency, and shall be in conformance with local building and zoning codes, by
laws and regulations.

16. Equal. Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Contractor will provide an Equal Employment
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights. Offtce of Justice Programs (OCR), if it has
received a single award of SSOO.CXiO or more. If the recipient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or
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more employees, it willmeintam a current EEOP on file and submit an EEOP Certification Form to the
OCR, certifyirtg that its EEOP is on file. For redpfents receiving less than $25,000. or public grentees
with fewer than 50 employees, regardless of the amount of.the award, the recipient will provide an
EEOP Certification Form to the OCR certifying it is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non
profit organizations. Indian Tribes^ end medical and educatiortal institutions are exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but are required to submit a certificdtion form to the OCR to daim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are available at: http^/www.ojp.usdoj/about/oa/pdfs/cert.pdf.

17. Limited English Proficiency (LEP): As clarified by Executive Order 13166. Improving Access to
Services for persons with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agerKy guidance, notional origin
discrimination Indudes discrimination on the basis of limited English proficiency (LEP). To ensure
compliance with the Omnibus Crime Control end Safe Streets Act of 1968 and Title VI of the Civil
Rights Act of 1964, Contractors must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons have
meaningful access to its programs.

18. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whistlebiower Protections: The
following shall apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplifted Acquisition Threshold as defined in48
CFR 2.101 (currently, $150,000)

Contractor Employee Whistleslower Rkshts and REoutREMENiTo Inform Employees of
Whistlhblower Rights (SEP 2013) ■

(a) This contract and employees working on this contract will be subject to the whisdebtower rights
and remedies in the pilot program on Contractor employee whistlebiower protections established at
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 828 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) end FAR 3.908.

(b) The Contractor shall inform its employees In writing, in the predominant language of the worKforce,
of employee whistlebiower rights and protecUons under 41 U.S.C. 4712. as described in section

-  3.906 of the Federal Acqutsilion Regulation.

(c) The Contractor shall ir>sert the substance of (his dause, including this paragraph (c). in all
subcontracts over the simplified acquisition threshold.

19. Subcontractors: DHHS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subcontractors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or functions for effidency or convenience,
but the Contractor shall retain the responsibility and accountability for the funclion(s). Prior to
subcontracting, the Contractor shall evaluate the subcontractor's ability to perform the delegated
function(s). This is accomplished through a written agreement (hat spedfies activities ar>d reporting
responsibilities of the subcontractor and provides for revoking the delegation or Imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance is not adequate. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual
conditions as the Contractor ar>d the Contractor is responsible to ensure subcontractor compliance
with those conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to a subcontractor, the Contractor shall do the followir>g:

19.1. Evaluate the prospective subcontractor's ability to perform the activities, before delegating
the function

19.2. Have a written agreement with the subcontractor that specifies activities andreporling
responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation will l:>e managed if the subcontractor's
performance is not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis

Exhibii C - Special Provbions Contrpctor tniUab C.
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19.4. Provide to OHHS an annual schedule identifying all subcontractors, delegated functionsand
responsibilities, and when (he subcontractor's performance wiU be reviewed

19.5. OHHS shall, at its discretion, review and approve all subcontracts.

If the Contractor identines deficiencies or areas for improvement are Identified, (he Contractor shall
take corrective action.

20. Contract Definitions:

. 20.1. COSTS: Shall mean those direct and indirect items of expense determined by the Department
to be allowable and reimbursable in accordance with cost and accounting principles established
in accordance with stale and federal lavrs, regulations, rules and orders.

20.2. DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

20.3. PROPOSAL: If applicable, shall mean the document submitted by the Contractor on a
form or forms required by the Department and containing a description of the services and/or
goods to be provided by the Contractor in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Contract and setting forth the total cost and sources of revenue for each service to be provided
under the Contract.

20.4. UNIT; For each service that the Contractor is to provide tp eligible individuals hereunder. shall
mean that period of time or that specified activity determined by the Department and specified
in Exhibit B of the Contract.

20.5. FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Wherever federal or state laws, regulations, rules, orders, and
policies, etc. are referred to in the Contract, the said reference shall be deemed to moan
all such laws, regulations, etc. as they may be amended or revised from time to time.

20 6. SUPPLANTING OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: Funds provided to the Contractor under this
Contract wiD nol supplani any existing federal funds available for these services.

ExhitMl C - SpAO'Ol Pfovisiona Controctor Iniibtt ^—
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REVISIONS TO STANDARD CONTRACT LANGUAGE

1. Revlslor)8 to Form P*37, General Provisions

1.1. Subparagraph 3. Section 3.1 of the General Provisions of this Contract. Effective
Oate/Completlon of ServlMS is amended to read as foOows:
3.1 Notwithstarxling any provision of this Agreement to the contrery, end subject to the

approval of the Governor and Executive Council of the State of New Hampshire as
indicated in block 1.18. this Agreement, and all obUgations of the parties hereunder. shall
become effective on July 1,2019 ('Effective Date').

1.2. Section 4. Conditionel Nature of Aoreement. Is replaced as follows:

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all oUigations of (he State
hereunder. induding without limitation, the continuance of payments, in whole or in part,
under this Agreement are contingent upon continued appropriation or.availat>lllty of funds,
induding any subsequent changes to the appropriation or availability of funds affected by
any slate or federal legisJailve or executive action that reduces, eliminates, or otherwise
modifies the appropriation or avaDabflity of funding for this Agreement and the Scope of
Services provided In Exhibit A, Scope of Services, in whole or in part. In no event shall the
Stale be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of appropriated or available funds. In
the event of e reduction, termination or modification of appropriated or available funds, the
Slate shall hove the right to withhold payment until such funds become available, if ever. The
State shall have the right to reduce, terminate or modify services under this Agreement
Immediately upon giving the Contractor notice of such reduction, termination or modification.
The Stale shall not be required to transfer funds from eny other source or account into the
Accounl(s) identified in block 1.6 of the General Provisions. Account Number, or any other
account In the event funds are reduced or unavaDable.

1.3. Section 10, Termination, is amended by adding the foltowing language:

10.1 Funds for (his contract are appropriated to the Department and may only be used to fund a
New Hempshire-based, nationally-accredited suicide hotline service as provided for in House
Bill 3 of the 2019 New Hampshire Regular legislative Session. Accordingly, this agreement
will Immediately terminate in the event the Contractor does not maintain (he required
accreditation.

10.2 Notwithstanding Section 10.1 above, the State may terminate (he Agreement at any tinte for
any reason, at the sole discretion of the State. 30 days after giving the Contractor written
notice that the State is exercising its option to terminate the Agreement.

10.3 In the event of early termination, the Contractor shail, within 15 days of notice of early
tarmlnation. develop and submit to the State a Transition Plan for services under the
Agreement, including but not limited to, Identifying the present and future needs of dlents
receivir^g services under the Agreement and establishes a process to meet those needs.

10.4 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the Slate and shall promptly provide detailed
information to support the Transition Plan Including, but not limited to, any information or data
requested by the State related to the termination of the Agreement and Transition Plan and
Shall provide ongoing communication and revisions of the Trensition Plan to the Slate as
requested.

2. Renewal

2.1. The parties may extend the Agreement for up to two (2) additional years from the Completion
Date, contingent upon setisfectory delivery of services, available funding, agreement of (he
parties and approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

Gxhlbll C-1 - Rovliions/Exceptlorts to Stondard Contnd LanBusga Contractor inltlati Z'
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING DRUG-fWEE WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor, identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free Worlcpiace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690. Title V. Subtitle O; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seg.}. and further agrees lo have the Contractor's representative, as Identified in Sections
1.11 etx] 1.12 of the Ger>eral Provisions execute the following Certification:

ALTERNATIVE I • FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES • CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE • CONTRACTORS

This certificatjon is required by (he regulations Implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drvg-Free
Worltplace Act of 198B (Pub. L. 100-690. Title V, Subtitle 0; 41 U.S.C. 701 etseq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were amended and published as Part II of (he May 25, 1990 Federal Register (pages
21681*21691), end require certification by grantees (and by inference.' sub-grantees and sub
contractors). pnor to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference. 8ut>-gr3ntees and sub-contraaora) that is a Slate
may elect to make one certification to the Department In each federal fiscal year in lieu of certificates for
each grant during the federal fiscal year covered by the certiflcatlor. The certificate set out below is a
material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination of grants, or government wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send il to:

Commiss'ioner

NH Department of Haaflh arvl Human Services
129 Pleasant Street.
Concord. NH 03301*6505

1. The grantee certifies (hat it will or will continue to provide a drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a statement notifying employees that the unlawful manufacture, distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited In the grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that wlll be taken against employees for violation of such
prohibition;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about
1.2.1. The'dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.2.3. Any available drug counselir>g. rehBt>iiilation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The penalties that may be imposed upon employees for drug ebuse violations

occurring in the workplace; .
1.3. Making It a requirement that each employee to be engaged In the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
1.4. Notifying (he employee in the statement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee wOl
1.4.1. Abide by Ihe terms of (he statement; and
1.4.2. Notify the employer in writing of his or her conviction for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring In the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying the agency in writing, within ten calendar days after receiving notice under
subparegraph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual nollce of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide rH}tico. including position title, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity Ihe convicted employee was working, unless the Federal agency

EiWWi D-CaftlflcsOonreoardlng On/g Froo Vandoi lortJals C_\
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has designated a central point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shaD Include the .
identification number(8) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1.4.2. with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such en emptoyee, up to and Including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended: or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily In a drug abuse assistance or
rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a Feder^. State, or local heailh.
lew enforcement, or other appropriate agency:

1.7. Making a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through
implementation of paragraphs 1.1,1.2.1.3,1.4,1.5, and 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the sile(s) for the performarice of work dor\e in
connection with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, state, zip code) (list each location)

Check □ If there are workplaces on file that are not identified here:

Vendor Name: ^ .

//sAiooo
Date ^

^ i/ff' C
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CERTIFICATION REQARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identified in S^on 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on Lobbying, and
31 U.S.C. 1352, and funher agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identiFied in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following CenrTication:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION • CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE • CONTRACTORS

Programs (Indicate appllcabie program covered):
'Temporary Assistance to Needy Families under Title IV-A ■
'Child Support Enforcement Program under Title IV-O
'Social Services Block Grant Program urtder Title XX
'Medicaid Program under Tide XIX
'Community Services Block Grant under Title VI
'Child Cere Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for influencing or attempting to Influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member
of Cor^gress, en officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress In
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, conlinualion. renewal, amendment, or
modrftcation of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for
influencirtg or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a Member of Congress,
an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub
contractor), the undersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLt, (Oisclosura Form to
Report Lobbying, In accordance with its instnictions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit E-1.)

3. The undersigned shell require that the language of this certificatbn be included in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including sut>contr3Cts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that ell sub-recipients shall certify end disclose accordingly.

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or entering into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352. Title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required -
certTicalion shall be subject to a dvll penally of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100.0(X) for
each such failure.

Vendor Name: 4^ /AJC.

//y^:}0
Dale ' Name: CT. ̂ 0^
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CERTIFICATtON REGARDING DEBARMENT. SUSPENSION

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with (he provisions of
Executive Office of the President, Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Pah 76 regarding Det»rment.
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, end further agrees to have the Contractor's
representative, as identified In Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the follovring
Certificatjon:

tNSTRUCTIONS FOR CERTIFICATION

1. By signing and submitting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary pahicipant is providing the
certification sot out below.

2. The inability of a person to provide the certification required below will not necessarily result In deniei
of participation in this covered transaction, if necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the cehificalion. The certification or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (OHHS)
determination whether to enter into this transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
partidpent to fumish a certification or an explanation shall disqualify such person from parlidpation in
this transaction.

3. The certification in this dause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when DHHS determined to enter into this transaction. If it Is later determined that the prospective
primary partidpent knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, in addition to other remedies
avaOable to (he Federal Government, OHHS may terminate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary partidpant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom (his proposal (contract) Is submitted if at any time the prospective primary partidpant teams
that its certification was erroneous when submitted or has become en-oneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms 'covered transaction.* 'debarred.' 'suspended,' 'Ineligible.' 'lower tier covered
transaction,* "partidpant,* 'person.' "primary covered transaction.' 'prindpal.' 'proposal.' and
'voluntarily excluded,' as used in this dause, have the meanings set out in the Oefinitlons and
Coverage sections of the rules irnpiementing Executive Order 12549:45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary partidpant agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entored into. It shall not kno^ngly enter Into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, dedared ineligible, or voluntarily exduded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by OHHS.

7. The prospective primary partidpant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will indude the
clause tilled 'Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension, ineligibmiy and Voluntary Exclusion •
Lower Tier Covered Transactions.* provided by OHHS, without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in aO solicildtions for lower tier covered transactions.

6. A partidpant in a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
lower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involuntarily excluded
from the covered transaction, unless it knows that the certification is erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which It determines the eligibility of its principals. Each
pertidpant mey, but is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of exduded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render in good faith the certification required by this dause. The knowledge and

EjU*Wi F - C«rtinc«iton RaganJIoa O«bprmoni, Suspension Vondv InlUsls
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biformalion of a participant is not required to exceed that which is rKjrmally possessed by a prudent
person in the ordinery course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, inetlgibie, or voluntarily excluded from participation In this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TRANSACTIONS

11. The prospective primary participant certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief, that it and Its
principals:
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed lor debarment, declared ineligible, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency:
11.2. have not within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them.for commission of fraud or a criminal offense in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal. Slate or local)
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violalicn of Federal or State antitrust
statutes or commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsification or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3. are not presently Indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal. Slate or local) with commission of any of the offenses enumerated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this.certification; and

11.4. have not within a three-year ̂ riod preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal. Stale or local) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. 6y signing and submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective lower tier participant, as
dermed in 45 CFR Part 76. certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:

■ 13.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.

13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant is unable to certify to any of the above, such
prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that It will
include this clause entitled 'Certification Regarding Debarment. Suspension. IneligibDity. end
Voluntary Exclusion - Lower Tier Covered Transactions,* without modification in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower Her covered transactions.

Vendor Name: f/' J f VC

^

Data' Name: 'y
Title:
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CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NGNDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAJTH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Vendor identiried in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as Identined in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification: '

Vendor wUl comply, and wQI require any subgrantees or subcontractors to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrtmlnatlon requirements, which may Indude:

• the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1966 (42 U.S.C. Section 3769d) which prohibits
recipients of federal furxjing under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the besis of race, cotor, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunity Plan; ■

• the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section S672(b)) which adopts by
reference, the civil rights obligations of the Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited.from discriminating, either In employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act lr>cludes Equal
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

• the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d. which prohibits recipients of federal financie)
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin in any.program or activity);

• the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794). which prohibits recipients of Federal fmarKia!
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard to employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, in any program or actrvlty;

• the Americans with DIsabltities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sections-12131-34). which prohibits
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabQIlles in employment. State and tocai
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

• the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681, 1683.1685-66). which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education programs;

• the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07). which prohibits discrimination on the
t)d8is of age In programs or activHies receiving Federal financial assistance. It does not include
employment discrimlnatbn;

- 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - OJJDP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscriminatlon; Equal Employment Opportunity; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Order No. 13279 (equal protection of the laws for faith-based ar>d community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles end policy-making
chteria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

• 26 C.F.R. pt. 36 (U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); and Whistleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and The National Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L. 112-239. enacted January 2. 2013) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistleblower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in connection with federal grants and contracts.

The certincate set out below is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards the grant. False certification or violation of the certtfication shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
debarment.

Vendor iniiiele & i'
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In the event a Federal or State couilor Federal or Slate administrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will forward a copy of the finding to the Offtce for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division within (he Department of Health and Human Servicas. and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Vendor tdenllflad In Section 1.3 of (ha General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
ce^flcetion;

I. By signing and submitting this proposal (conlraci) (he Vendor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Vendor Name: .

//3/S>Oid
Dale Name: ^
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CERTIRCATIOW REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103*227, Part C - Envirorunental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro*ChiHjren Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smokirtg not be permitted ir> any portion of any indoor facility owrted or leased or
contracted for by an entity ar^d used routinely or regularly for the provision of hoalth, day care, education,
or library services to children under the age of 18. if the services ere funded by Federal programs either
directly or through State or local governments, by Federal grant, contract, loan, or loan guarantee. The
lew does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, facilities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds. arKl portions of fadlitles used for inpallent drug or alcohol treatment. Failure
to comply with the provisions of the taw may result In the Imposition of a civil monetary penalty of up to
$1000 per day and/or the Imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Section 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
cerlification;

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Vendor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply wilh
aD appDcablo provisions of Public Law 103-227, Part C, known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

Vendor Name:

//3/oo,^o
oSe ^ Name:

Title:

Exhibit K - Ceniricetion Regarding Vondor Initials _
Envlronmanta) Tobacco Smoke
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HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABlLtTV AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT

BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

The Contractor identffie<} in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health Insurance Portability artd Acoounlability Act, Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate' shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health Information under this Agreement and 'Covered
Entity' shall mean the State of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services.

(1) Peflnltlona.

a. 'Breach' shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach' in section 164.402 of Title 45.
Code of Federal Regulations.

b. 'Business Associate" has the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45, Code
of Federal Regulations.

c. "Covered Entltv" has the meaning given such term In section 160.103 of Tide 45.
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. 'Designated Record Set'shall have the same meaning as the term "designated record set"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. 'Data AoareQatlon' shall have the same meaning as the term 'data aggregation' in 45 CFR
Section 164.501.

f. 'Health Care Operations" shall have the same meaning as the term 'health care operations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

g. 'HITECH Act' means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act, TitleXIII, Subllde 0. Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of
2009.

h. 'HIPAA' means the Health Insurance Rortabilily and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the.^ndard5 for Privacy and Security of Individually Identinable Health
Information, 45 CPR Parts 160,162 and 164 and amendments thereto.

i.' 'Individual' shall have the same meaning as the term 'indivkJual' In 45 CFR Section 160.103
and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative In accordance with 45
CFR Sectlon 164.501(g).

j. 'Privacy Rule' shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States
Department of Health and Human Services.

k. 'Protected Health Information' shall have the same meaning as the term 'protected health
information' in 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.

3/2014 Exhibit I Conlmttof Inltlatx
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I. 'Required bv Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "required by law" in 45 CFR
Section 164.103.

m. 'Secretary' shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. "Securitv Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Part 164, Subpart 0. and amendments thereto.

o. 'Unsecured Protected Health Information' means protected health information that Is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and is developed or endorsed.by
a standards developing organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute. 1

p. other DBfinitions - All terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160.162 and 164. as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act.

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. Business Associate shall not use. disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under
Exhibit A of the Agreement. Further, Business Associate, including but not limited to all
its directors, officers, employees and agents, shall rrot use. disclose, maintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI:
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;
II. As required by law. pursuant to the terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or
III. For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. To the extent Business Associate is permitted under the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure, (i)
reasonable assurances from the third party that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was
disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy. Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breaches of the confidentiallly of the PHI,, to the extent it has obtained
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not, unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that It is required by law. without first notifying
Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to the disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

3/2014 ExhlWtl ConlfBctof InlUnts
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,  Associate shall refrain from disclosing the PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions and shall not disclose PHI in violation of
such additional restrictions and shall abide by any additional security safeguards.

(3) Obtlgatlonft and ActlvUlea of Business Associate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer Immediately
after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disdosure of protected
health Information not provided for by the Agreement including breaches of unsecured
protected health Information and/or any security iiKidont that may have an impact on the
protected health Information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes
aware of any of the above situations. The risk assessment shall Include, but not be
limited to;

o The nature and extent of the protected health Information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-identification;

0 The unauthorized person used the protected health information or to whom the
disclosure was made;

0 Whether the protected health information was actually acquired or viewed
0  The extent to which the risk to the protected health Information has been

mitigated.

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within 48 hours of the
breach and immediately report the findings of the risk assessment In writing to the
Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of Its business associates thai receive, use or have
access to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein. Including
the duty to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will^be receiving PHI

3^7014 EUtlblil CootTBcty Inlllala ^
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pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and Indemnification from such
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use arxf disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity,
Business Associate shall make available during normal business hours at its offices all
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524. '

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
. amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record
Set. the Business Associate shall make such PHI available to Covered Entity for
amendment and incorporate any such amendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its
obligations under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

I. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related, to
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an
individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.528.

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI, Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such information as Covered Entity may require to fulfill its obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosures with respect to PHI In accordance with 45 CFR
Section 164.528.

k. In the event any individual requests access to, amendment of, or accounting of PHI
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within two (2)
business days fonvard such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the

- responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if forwarding the
/  individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business

Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall instead respond to the Individual's request as required by such law.and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by (he Business Associate In connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. if return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
purposes that make the return or destnjction infeasible, for so long as Business
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Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PH), the Business Associate shail certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

(4) ObliQations of Covered Entity

a. Covered Entity shail notify Business Associate of any changes or limitation's) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section
164.520. to the extent that such change or limitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in, or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section
164.506 or 45 CFR Section 164.508.

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordance with 45 CFR 164.522.
to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.

(5) Termination for Cause

In addition to Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may Immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit i. The Covered EnUty may either immediately
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure Is feasible. Covered Entity shall report the
violation to the Secretary.

(6) Mificettaneoue

a. Definitions and Reoulatorv References. All terms used, but not otherwise defined herein,
shall have the same meaning as those terms in the Privacy and Security Rule, amended
from time to time. A reference In the Agreement, as amended to include this Exhibit I. to
a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in effect or as
amended.

\

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to lake such action as Is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from time to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes in the requirements of HIPAA, the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. Data Ownerstiio. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI provided by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d  Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covered Entity to comply vrilh HIPAA. the Privacy and Security Rule.

j  Contmctof WUaia
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e. SeoreQation. If any term or condition of this Exhibit I or the application thereof to any
person(s) or circumstance Is held invalid, such invalidity shall not affect other terms or
conditions which can be given effect without the invalid term or cortdition; to this end the
terms and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

f. Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit 1 regarding the use and disdosure of PHI, return or
destnjctlon of PHI, extensions of the protections of the Agreement In section (3) I, the
defense and ir>demnification provisions of section <3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms and conditions (P-37). shall survive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit I.

Department ol Heallh and Human Services

The Sjfite^ ^ Name of the Contractor

Signature of Au^ohzed Representative

■fmr\ (Ajna-s
Nanie of Authorized Representative

Title of Authorized RepresentativRepresentative

Date
(k 0

Signature ofT^uthgflzed Representative

me of Authorized Representative

Title of Authorized Representative

Date ' ^ ■

3/2014
Hftsllh Insuranu PorUMIIry Act
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY

ACT IFFATAI COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires prime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1. 2010. to report on
data related to executive compensabon and associated first-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
, $25,000. the award is sut^ect to the FFATA reporting requirements, as of the date of the award.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Department of Health and Human Services (OHMS) must report the following Information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements;
1. Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency
4. NAICS code for contracts! CFDA program number for grants
5. Program souf9e
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
6. Principle place of performance
9. Unique identifier of the entity (DUNS P)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five executives if:

10.1. More than 80% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal government, and those
revenues are greater than $25M ar^nually and

10.2. Compensation information is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days, in which
the award or award amendment is made.

The Contractor Identifted in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act. Public Law 109-282 and Public Law 110-252.
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reportng Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions
execute the following Certification:
The below named Contractor agrees to provide needed information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health and Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accountability and Transparency Act

Contractor Name:

//sX)o^o  ̂
Dal6 ^ Name:

Title: .

Ejtfilbll J - Certlflc^tlOft Regarding F*d«fal Funding Contractoi InWtb
Accountability And Tronspa/oncy Ad (FFATA) Complanco
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FORMA

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the Genera) Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. Tha DUNS nunnbflr for vour entity is: ̂  ̂
2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization

receive (1) 80 percenter more of your annual gross revenue In U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) $25,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts, loans, grants, subgrants. and/or
cooperative agreements?op^i

NO YES

If the answer to #2 above is NO. stop here

if the answer to 02 above is YES, please answer the following:

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.78m(a). 780(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?'

NO YES

If the answer to 03 above is YES. stop here

If the answer to 03 above is NO. please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of the five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Name:

Name:

Name:

Name;

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount

CU'DMHS'ltOTO
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DHHS Information Security Requirements

A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning In this document:

1. 'Breach* means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than
authorized purpose have access or potential access to personally identmabie
information, whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health
Information. * Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term 'Breach* in section
164.402 of Title 45, Code of Federal Regulations.

2. "Computer Security Incident' shall have the same meaning "Computer Security
Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security Incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Standards and Technology. U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. "Confidential Information* or 'Conrrdential Data" means all confidential Information
disclosed by one party to the other such as all medical, health, financial, public
assistance benefits and personal information including without limitation, Substance
Abuse Treatment Records. Case Records, Protected Health Information and
Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all information owned or managed by
the State of NH • created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted
services • of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by
state or federal law or regulation. This information includes, but is not limited to
Protected Health Information (PHI). Personal information (PI). Personal Financial
Information (PFI), Federal Tax Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN),
Payment Card industry (PCI), arid or other sensitive and confidential Information.

4. "End User" means any person or entity (e.g.. contractor/contractor's employee,
business associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives
DHHS data or derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the
regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Incident" means'an act that potentially violates an explicit or implied security policy,
which includes attempts (either failed or successful) to gain unauthorized access to a
system or its data, unwanted disruption or denial of sarvice, the unauthorized use of
a system for the processing or storage of data; and changes to system hardware,
firmware, or software characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or
consent. Incidents include the loss of data through theft or device misplacement, loss
or misplacement of hardcopy documents, and misrouting of physical or electronic

vs. Lsstupdsto 1(V09n8 K Contractof InlUab csr
DHHS InfonnatJon .
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mail, all of which may have the potential to put the data at risk of unauthorized
access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction. ,

7. "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that is
not designated by the State of New Hampshire's Department of Information
Technology or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and
approved, by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open
network and not adequately secure for the transmission of unencrypted PI, PFI,
PHI or confidential DHHS data.

8. 'Personal Information' (or "PI") means information which can be used to distinguish
or trace an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, persorial
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-0:19, biometric records, etc..
alone, or when combined with other personal or Identifying information which is linked
or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's maiden -
name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule' shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United
States Department of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or •PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
definition of "Protected Health Information' in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R. §
160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Information at 45 C.F.R. Part 164. Subpart C. and amendments
thereto.

12. "Unsecured Protected Health Information" means Protected Health Information that Is

not secured by a technology standard that renders Protected Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthorized individuals and Is
developed or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by
the American National Standards Institute.

I. RESPONSIBILITIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information.

1. The Contractor^must not use. disclose, maintain or transmit Confidential Information
except as reasonably necessary as outlined under this Contract. Further, Contractor,
including but not limited to all its directors, officers, employees and agents, must not
use, disclose, maintain or transmit PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation
of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Confidential Information in response to a

vs. Laslupdolo l(V09/ta Exh'bil K Contnictor Initials
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request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, in response to a
subpoena, etc., without first notifying OHMS so that DHHS has an opportunity to
consent or object to the disclosure.

3. If DHHS notifies the Contractor that OHMS has agreed to t>e bound by additional
restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security safeguards of PHI
pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Contractor must be bound by such
additlohal restricticns and must not disclose PHI in violation of such additional
restrictions and must abide by any additional security safeguards.

4. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed' to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

5. The Contractor agrees DHHS Data obtained under this Contract may not be used for
any other purposes that are not indicated in this Contract.

6. The Contractor agrees to grant access to the data to the authorized repreisentatives
of OHMS for the purpose of inspecting to confirm compliance with the terms of this
Contract.

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

1. Application Encryption. If End User Is transmitting DHHS data containing
Confidential Data between applicatior^s, the Contractor attests the applications have
been evaluated by an expert knowledgeable in cyber security and that said
application's encryption capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. End User may not use computer disks
or portable storage devices, such as a thumb drive, as a method of transmitting DHHS
data.

3. Encrypted Email. End User may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email Is encrvDted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of
persons authorized to receive such information.

4. Encrypted Web Site. If End User is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be
secure. SSL encrypts data transmitted via a Web site.

5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. End User may not use fiie
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit
Cohfidentiai Data.

6. Ground Mai) Service. End User may only transmit Confidential Data via certified ground
mail within the continental U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If End User is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypt^ and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. End User may not transmit Confidential Data via an open

vs. Lastupdals 1CV09/1B Extilbll K ConinicKylnUlols
^  OHHS InformaDon

Security Roqulremanb

Page 3 of 9 Oaio



DocuSign Envelope ID: D1E3E5FC-5FC7-4E27-9108-3C7FB021CD68

DocuSIgn Envelope ID: 0129E40B-BEA4-464F-8C33-4FCFD29ABA4E

New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Exhibit K

DHHS Information Security Requirements

wireless networ^. End User must employ a virtual private network (VPN) when
remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. If End User is employing remote communication to
access or transmit Confidential Data, a virtual private network (VPN) must be
installed on the End User's mobile device(s) or iaptop.from which information will be
transmitted or accessed.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP). also known as Secure File Transfer Protocol. If
End User Is employing an SFTP to transmit Confidential Data, End User vyill
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent Inappropriate disclosure of
information. SFTP folders and sutvfoiders used for transmitting Confidential Data will
be coded for 24-hour auto-deletion cyde (i.e. Confidential Data will be deleted every 24
hours).

11. Wireless Devices. If End User is transmitting Confidential Data via wireless devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

RETENTION AND DISPOSITTON OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

f

The Contractor will onty retain the data and any derivative of the data for the duration of this
Contract. After such time, the Contractor will have 30 days to destroy the data and any
derivative in whatever form it may exist, unless, otherwise required.-by law or permitted
under this Contract. To this end. the parties must;

A. Retention

1. The Contractor agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the services rendered under this Contract outside of the United

States. This physical location requirement'shall also apply in the implementation of
cloud computing, doud service or doud storage capabilities, and Indudes backup
data and Disaster Recovery localior>s.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in
place to detect potential, security events that can impact State of NH systems
and/or Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

3. The Contractor agrees to provide security awareness and education for its End
Users in support of protecting Department confidential Information.

4. The Contractor agrees to retain all electronic and hard copies of Confidential Data
in a secure location and identified in section IV. A.2

5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FedRAMP/HITECH compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding (he privacy and security. All servers and devices must have
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, the latest anti-viral, anti-
hacker. anti-spam, anti-spyware. and antl-malware utilities. The environment, as a
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whole, must have aggressive intnjsion-detection and firewall protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information OfTtcer in the detection of any security vulnerability of the hosting
infrastructure.

B. Disposition

1. If the Contractor will maintain any Confidential Information on its systems (or its
sub-contractor systems), the Contractor will maintain a documented process for
securely disposing of such data upon request or contract termination; and will
obtain written certification for any State of New Hampshire data destroyed by the
Contractor or any sut>contractors as a part of ongoing, emergency, and or disaster
recovery operations. When no lor^er in use. electronic media containing State of
New Hampshire data shall be rendered unrecoverable via a secure wipe program
in accordance with industry-accepted standards for secure deletion and media
sanitization. or otherwise physically destroying the media (for example,
degaussing) as described in NISI Special Publication 600-88, Rev 1, Guidelines
for Media Sanitization, National Institute of Standards and Technology. U. S.
Department of Commerce. The Contractor will document and certify in writing at
lime of the data destruction, and will provide written certification to the Department
upon request. The written certification will include. all details necessary to
demonstrate data has been properly destroyed and validated. Where applicable,
regulatory and professional standards for retention requirements will be jointly
evaluated by the State and Contractor prior to destruction.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
' Contract. Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidential Data using a

secure method such as shredding.

3. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the termination of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by means of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURITY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, and any
derivative data or files, as follows;

1. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls to protect Department
confidential Information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contracted services.

2. The Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the information lifecycle, where applicable, (from
creation, transformation, use. storage and secure destruction) regardless of the
media used to store the data (i.e.. tape, disk, paper, etc.).
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3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate authentication and access controts to
contractor systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential information
where applicable.

4. The Contractor will ensure proper security monitoring capabilities are in place to
detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential information for contractor provided systems.

5. The Contractor will provide regular security awareness end education for Its End
Users in support of protecting Department confidential information.

6. If the Contractor will be sub-contracting any core functions of the engagement
supporting the services for Stale,of Now Hampshire, the Contractor will maintain a
program of an internal process or processes that defines spedfic security
expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
match those for the Contractor, induding breach notification requirements.

7. The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State of New Hampshire and Department system access and authorization policies
and procedures, systems access forms, and computer use agreements as part of
obtaining and maintaining access to any Department system(s). Agreements will be
completed and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to
system access being authorized.

8. If the Department determines the Contractor Is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CFR 160.103. the Contractor vrill execute a HtPAA Business Associate Agreement
(BAA) with the Department and Is responsible for maintaining compliance with the
agreement.

9. The Contractor will work with the Department at its request to complete a System
Management Survey. The purpose of the survey is to enable the DepartmenI and
Contractor to monitor for any changes In risks, threats, and vulnerabilities that may
occur over the life of the Contractor engagement. The survey will be completed
annually, or an alternate time frame at the Departments discretion with agreement by
the Contractor, or the Department may request the survey be completed when the
scope of the engagement between the Department and the Contractor changes.

10. The Contractor will not store, knowingly or unknowingly, any State of Now Hampshire
or Department data offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless
prior express written consent is obtained from the Information Security Office
leadership member within the Department.

11. Data Security Breach Liability. In the event of any security breach Contractor shall
make efforts to investigate the causes of the breach, promptly lake measures to
prevent future breach and minimize any damage or loss resulting from the breach.

I The Slate shall recover from the Contractor all costs of response and recovery from
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the breach, Including but not limited to: credit monitoring services, mailing costs and
costs associated with webisite and telephone call center services necessary due to
the breach.

12. Contractor rmjst. comply with all applicable statutes and regulations regarding the
privacy and security of Conridential Infonnation. and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and security of PI and PHI at a level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of requirements applicable to federal agencies, including,
but not limited to. provisions of the Privacy Act of 1974 (5 U.S.C. § 552a), DHHS
Privacy Act Regulations (45 C.F.R. §5b). HIPAA Privacy and Security Rules (45
C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164) that govcm protections for,ir»dividually identifiable health
information and as applicable under State law.

13. Contractor agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidential Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to it. The safeguards must provide a level and
scope of security that is not less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire. Department of Information Technology.
Refer to Vendor Resources/Procurement at https:/Awww.nh.gov/doit/vendor/index.hlm
for the Department of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

14. Contractor agrees to maintain a documented breach notificalion and incident
response process. The Contractor will notify the State's Privacy Officer and the
State's Security Officer of any security breach immediately, at the email addresses
provided in Section VI. This includes a confidential information breach, computer
security incident, or suspected breach which affects or includes any Slate of New
Hampshire systems that connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

15. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to
perform their official duties in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

16. The Contractor must ensure that all End Users:

a. comply with such safeguards as referenced in Section IV A. above,
implemented to protect Confidential Information that Is furnished by DHHS
under this Contract from loss, theft or Inadvertent disclosure.

b. safeguard this information at all times. '
0. ensure that laptops and other electronic devices/media containing PHI, PI, or

PFI are encrypted and password-protected.

d. send emails containing Confidential Information only if encrypted and being
sent to and being received by email addresses of persons authorized to
receive such information.
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e. limit disclosure of the Conridaniial Information to the extent permitted by law.

f. Confrdential Information received under this Contract and individually
Identifiable data derived from OHHS Data, must be stored in an area that Is
physically and technoiogically secure from access by unauthorized persons
during duty hours as well as non-duty hours (e.g., door locks, card keys,
biometric identifiers, etc.).

g. only authorized End Users may transmit the Confidential Data, including any
derivative files containing personally identifiable information, and in all cases,
such data must be encrypted at all times when In transit, at rest, or when
stored on portable media as required in section IV above.

h. in all other instances Confidential Data must be maintained, used and
disclosed using appropriate safeguards, as determined by a risk-based
assessment of the circumstances involved.

1. understand that (heir user credentials (user name and password) must not be
shared with anyone. End Users will keep their credential information secure.
This applies to credentials used to access the site directly or indirectly through
a third party application.

Contractor is responsible for oversight and compliance of their End Users. OHHS
reserves the right to conduct onsite inspections to monitor compliance with this
Contract, iriciuding the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, HIPAA,
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Data
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Contractor must notify the State's Privacy Officer and Security Officer of any
Security Incidents and Breaches immediately, at the.email addresses provided in
Section VI.

The Contractor must further handle and report Irtcidents and Breaches involving PHI In
accordance with the agency's documented Incident Handling and Breach Notification
procedures and in accordance with <2 C.F.R. §§ 431.300 - 306. In addition to, and
notwithstanding. Contractor's compliance vrith all applicable ot>tigatlons and procedures.
Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify Incidents;
If

2. Determine if personally identifiable Infonndtlon is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirmed Incidents as required in this Exhibit or P-37;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to determine the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and
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5. Determine whether Breach notification is required, and, if so, identify appropriate
Breach notlficdtion methods,. timing, source, and contents from among different
options, and bear costs associated with the Breach notice as wed as any mitigation
measures.

Incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI must be addressed and reported, as
applicable, In accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.-

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

A. DHHS Privacy Officer;

DHHSPrivacyGfr(cer@dhhs.nh.90v

B. DHHS Security Officer

DHHSInformationSecurityOffice@dhhs.nh.gov
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